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Characteristics of the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM"”) of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is
a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market
in the securities traded on GEM.
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Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for
the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance
upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Yunbo Digital Synergy Group Limited
(the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM (“GEM
Listing Rules”) of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving information with regard to
the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of
their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Executive Director’s Statement

AT o g

For the 12 months ended March 31, 2017 (the “year under review "),
Yunbo Digital Synergy Group Limited (the “"Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) have been continuingly on its
way of reform and reorganization. In general, we mainly focused on
two segments in the year under review: the business of trading of
residential gateway products (including routers, Gigabit-Passive Optical
Network and Ethernet-Passive Optical Network equipment) and the
online/offline payment service development business (the “Payment
Business”). The former continues to remain as the main financial
contributor to the Group, followed by the Payment Business which
had been implemented in 2015.

The trading of residential gateway products business is mainly
operated by China Mobile Payment Technology Group Company
Limited (AR R EEER A F]) (“China Mobile Payment”).
Due to the loss of orders from China Telecom Corporation Limited
(FEEEIRMHER AT (“China Telecom”) in late 2015, in the year
under review, China Mobile Payment contributed to a significant
decrease in turnover, which is considered as a key reason for the
overall turnover decrease. Facing this situation, we summarized
and learned from experience. The disappointing performance was
due to the deteriorating operation. However, we believe the market
environment is steady and positive to the Group's future development
and expansion; thus, we will change the market strategy, re-evaluate
the management team of China Mobile Payment, maintain existing
network and build new channels.

In terms of Payment Business, in the year under review, we have
achieved some optimistic progress. As the majority of the payment
projects are still under progress, their financial contributions do not
form a significant share in the financial turnover in the year to review.
We believe they will bring us an optimistic outcome in the following
years.

Further, the Group has been continuing developing and constructing
a unified payment system platform as well as a monitoring and
management system for R EZE) (X)) R 27l (China Mobile
(Shenzhen) Company Limited*) (“China Mobile Shenzhen”). The
system has been applied in 31 provinces in China already and the
Group will keep upgrading, optimizing, and perfecting its payment
function.
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Executive Director’s Statement
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The Group was involved in several multi-party cooperation projects
with several enterprises during the year under review. At the end of
2016, we have completed the framework construction for a payment
system for a comprehensive shopping platform for a reputable
commercial property developer in mainland China. Once the payment
system is established, it will initially pilot in 3-4 commercial properties
owned by the developer. The payment system will enable the club
members and residents of the developer to purchase through the
platform, not only from the stores registered on the platform, but also
to make payment to Government departments.

Not only do we apply the payment system in commercial projects, the
payment system is also used in some civilian applications and will be
expand to the payment of water, gas, and electricity bills. During the
year under review, we implemented a smart traffic platform project in
Urumai, Xinjiang Province, to let people pay traffic or parking tickets
with smart devices. The system has already come into services, and
we will keep improving and updating the system and would replicate
the existing payment platform to other provinces and cities.

The Group's co-development in a cashless payment project with X
BEFEEBER AT LEED AT (Shanghai China Telecom Bestpay
E-commerce Ltd*) (“Shanghai CT E-commerce”) would bring
business opportunities to us through installation of points-of-sale
("POS") terminals for Bestpay (B3 {¢) platform of Shanghai CT
E-commerce, in certain retail locations in Beijing under a certain
network. The project is expected to expand to other surrounding
areas in Beijing in 2017. With the promotion to enhance products
competitiveness and enrichment of services to customers, we will
maintain the partnership with Shanghai CT E-commerce to install more
POS terminals. Meanwhile, we are confident to introduce our cashless
payment POS terminals to other potential clients. The technologies
and opportunities at hand are considerable and have significant
potential.
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The Group has ambition in its Payment Business as it has sufficient
resources and experiences to meet new challenges. In the coming
years, we will put more effort on integrating a payment eco-system
which should include three key parts: 1) a comprehensive shopping
platform with a built-in payment system; 2) a civilian payment
system which may be developed by government or government-
backed enterprises; 3) a connecting system which will use the unified
communication technology to connect the comprehensive shopping
platform to the civilian payment system. This connection enables
both platforms to link to each other, resulting in a cross-platform pay
function.

In fact, the Group is already equipped with experience and
technology that is required for the payment eco-system, such as the
payment system we built for the commercial property developer,
the traffic payment system we implemented in Urumgi, and the
unified communication technology that we are co-developing with a
technology company.

After we complete the payment eco-system, we will introduce and
replicate the approach to other potential clients. The Group positioned
itself as an operator who considers its payment system as having a
key competitive edge, cooperating with state-owned enterprises or
governments to build and provide online/offline payment system and
maintenance services.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude
to all Board members, employees, business partners, and those who
have supported us for their dedication and contribution. We will keep
putting efforts to seek business opportunities to bring a sustainable
investment return to our shareholders.

Lam Chi Man
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 16 June 2017

* for identification purposes only
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group's revenue (from
continuing operations) had amounted to approximately HK$28,561,000,
indicating a year-on-year decrease of approximately 91% when
compared with the results for the year ended 31 March 2016. This
was mainly attributable to the failure of China Mobile Payment for
obtaining bids from China Telecom to supply Ethernet-Passive Optical
Network (“"E-PON") equipment and Gigabit-Passive Optical Network
("G-PON") equipment in Beijing. Hence, China Mobile Payment
did not record satisfactory trading. During the period under review,
the overall E-PON equipment and G-PON equipment market was
incrementally congested with an explosive number of suppliers which
inevitably exaggerated the industry competition. Loss attributable
to owners of the Company for the year (including continuing and
discontinued operations) recorded approximately HK$39,606,000 as
compared to the loss of approximately HK$4,253,000 last year.

The Group has consolidated the business operating performance
of China Mobile Payment since its acquisition in December 2014.
China Mobile Payment and its major operating subsidiaries are mainly
engaged in the trading of residential gateway products, namely,
routers, G-PON equipment and E-PON equipment and providing IT
network consultation services to its main customer as China Telecom.

After abundant suppliers flooded into the residential gateway products
market, the competition intensified significantly during the year. China
Mobile Payment did not win its bids from China Telecom from 2015
which resulted in relatively unsatisfactory trading of E-PON equipment
and G-PON equipment during the year under review. This had trimmed
down the revenue performance of the whole Group.

The total turnover of China Mobile Payment recorded a decline when
compared with the results during the corresponding period last year.
The turnover result was severely hit by the unprecedented challenges
imposed by peer competition. Both the E-PON equipment and the
G-PON equipment being traded by China Mobile Payment experienced
a notable downward trend in sales volume and average price of each
unit when compared with last year.

Regarding the Group’s payment platform business, E/N#E1E{E 2R
AR A A (Guangzhou YBDS IT Co., Ltd*) (“Guangzhou YBDS"),
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, successfully expanded
business layout by entering into cooperation with different parties
in the aspects of unified payment system platform, comprehensive
payment system platform and smart traffic payment platform for the
year under review.
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Guangzhou YBDS and China Mobile Shenzhen entered into a
strategic cooperative agreement pursuant to which Guangzhou
YBDS was responsible for assisting China Mobile Shenzhen with the
development and construction of unified payment system platform
as well as the monitoring and management the said system. The
initial phase of the unified payment system platform and phases | &
[l of the monitoring and management system have been completed.
With assistance of the above-stated payment platform, consumers
or users can utilize mobile wallets as a payment transaction center
which integrates phone bills, credit points, gift cards and other mobile
payment services. As a pivotal supplier of payment system in the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC"), Guangzhou YBDS was still further
processing this project with an ultimate goal to replicate the Shenzhen
model and sell it to other units and/or subsidiaries of China Mobile
Limited (stock code: 941) in 31 provinces within the PRC. Both the
unified payment system platform and the monitoring and management
system are positioned to advance to the next phase in the second half
of the upcoming year.

The Company had commenced working with Shanghai CT E-commerce
from 2015 on the development and construction of the e-commerce
network platform of payment clearing and POS terminals installation.
Shanghai CT E-commerce, through their Bestpay platform, provided
clearing services for non-cash payments.

During the year under review, Guangzhou YBDS, Shanghai CT
E-commerce and a reputable commercial property developer entered
into a strategic cooperative agreement. Pursuant to such agreement,
the parties agreed to cooperate in developing a comprehensive
payment system platform within the business scope of the
commercial property developer. The platform could enable the club
members or users of the developer’'s commercial properties to digitize
credit points, gift cards and coupons and other membership services
so as to create a faster, smoother and more delightful shopping
experience. The comprehensive payment system platform had already
commenced operation in four trial locations with an aim to test the
sentiments and acceptance level of the market. The Company planned
to generally extend the application of the payment system to other
commercial properties within the PRC with a view to promote and
distribute the overall Payment Business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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During the year under review, the Company also successfully entered
into a multi-parties cooperative agreement pursuant to which the
Company managed to complete the installation of compatible POS
terminals in certain retail locations within five rings in Beijing under
one network. These locations were equipped with the Group’s non-
cash online and offline payment system, including those on XE&EF
P78 AR AT (China Telecom Bestpay E-commerce Ltd.*) Bestpay
platform and other cashless payment methods, such as mobile
payment, contactless payment and etc. The management positively
believes that this project can trigger promising opportunities for the
Group to install more POS terminals in other industries which are
closely related to people’s daily life such as convenience stores.

The Company also entered into a multi-parties cooperative agreement
on assisting the construction of a smart traffic platform in Urumgi in
Xinjiang Province in the PRC. The Company anticipated to optimize and
upgrade the system with payment functions to assist local residents
to pay traffic or parking tickets through online devices including mobile
phones while extend its application to other provinces in the PRC.

Finally, the Group’s system integration services and other value added
technical consultation services and hardware-related business in Hong
Kong were principally facilitated by Joy Epoch Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. During the year, Joy Epoch Limited had
generated revenues of approximately HK$5,675,000 and earned profit
from operations of approximately HK$27,000. With full consideration
of Joy Epoch Limited's size of operations, continuing loss, and the
non-core nature of business, the Company completed disposal of
the Group's entire shareholding interest in Joy Epoch Limited on 14
November 2016.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

To ensure that the Company is financially stable with sufficient
financial resources to continue the development of its proposed
projects, the Company had on 5 August 2013, raised net proceeds
of approximately HK$100 million through a subscription (the
“Subscription”). Immediately after the completion of the
Subscription, Happy On Holdings Limited held 987,888,771 shares of
the Company, representing approximately 72.83% of the total issued
share capital of the Company.
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As stipulated in the circular of the Company dated 11 July 2013, such
proceeds were to be applied in the following manner:

(i)  approximately HK$30,000,000 will be used to pay up the
remaining registered capital of Guangzhou YBDS and b R 1E7#
{8 RHEBR A A (Beijing YBDS IT Co., Ltd.*) (“Beijing YBDS");

(i) approximately HK$50,000,000 will be used as further investment
for contribution towards the total investment amounts of
Guangzhou YBDS and Beijing YBDS; and

(i) the remaining balance as general working capital of the

Company.

The Company had previously applied approximately HK$9,400,000 (or
approximately RMB7,350,000) and approximately HK$5,500,000 (or
approximately RMB4,330,000) of the proceeds to pay up the remaining
initial registered capital of RMB20,000,000 and increased registered
capital of RMB20,000,000 of Guangzhou YBDS, respectively.
During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company had applied
approximately HK$19,785,000 (or approximately RMB15,670,000) of
the proceeds to pay up the outstanding remaining increased registered
capital of Guangzhou YBDS.

At the time of the Subscription, only 20% of the registered capital or
RMB4 million of Beijing YBDS has been paid up with the remaining
80% or RMB16 million due to be paid on or before 18 December
2014. The Company had intended to apply to the Bureau of Foreign
Trade and Economic Cooperation of Beijing Municipality (b 5 i $4NE
SHESVE) to increase the registered capital of Beijing YBDS from
RMB20 million to RMB40 million and its total investment from RMB40
million to RMB80 million. A sum of approximately HK$45.5 million
from the proceeds of the Subscription was earmarked for paying up
the initial registered capital and increased registered capital of Beijing
YBDS (the “Capital Increase”). The intent of the Capital Increase
was to enable the Group’s subsidiaries to meet the minimum capital
threshold requirement when submitting bids for proposed projects
offered by the relevant telecommunications service providers in the
PRC.
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Given the Company has acquired China Mobile Payment on 23
December 2014, a holding company that owns a subsidiary with the
aforesaid threshold requirement for bids submission, this corporate
action is no longer deemed to be necessary. The Company has already
commenced the process of deregistration of Beijing YBDS. De-
registration has entered into the final stage and is pending approval of
PRC authority.

Moreover, the Company intends to apply the aforesaid earmarked
proceeds of approximately HK$45.5 million for new potential projects
and for general working capital purposes. As at the date of this report,
the Company has not identified any potential projects.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group recorded revenue
of approximately HK$28,561,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 91% when compared with the corresponding period last
year (form continuing operations) of approximately HK$316,706,000.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2017 (including continuing and discontinued operations) was
approximately HK$39,606,000 compared with loss attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$4,253,000 for the
corresponding period last year.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Business segments

During the year under review, when compared with the last
corresponding year, revenue generated from hardware sales (from
continuing operations) decreased by approximately 93%, while
revenue from consultancy services (from continuing operations)
increased by approximately 60%.

Geographical segments

The provision of system integration services and other value-added
technical consultation services and hardware-related business mainly
caters for the PRC market. Revenue from the Hong Kong segment
represented nil of the total revenue (2016: 3%).
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FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2017, the shareholders’ funds of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$69,699,000. Current assets were approximately
HK$190,856,000, mainly comprising cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$124,897,000 and trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$20,444,000. Current liabilities mainly comprised
trade and other payables of approximately HK$131,693,000. The net
asset value per share was approximately HK$0.045. The Group's
gearing ratio, expressed as a percentage of bank borrowings and long-
term debts over total equity, was nil. The liquidity ratio of the Group,
determined as a ratio of current assets over current liabilities, was
1.43:1 (as at 31 March 2016: 1.46:1).

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group was only exposed to
limited currency exchange rate fluctuation risks as virtually all of the
Group's monetary assets and liabilities were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars as it conducts its business transactions principally in this
currency. The currency exchange rate risk of the Group is therefore
considered to be immaterial, and the Group did not engage in any
hedging activity.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had operating lease commitments
in respect of rented premises and equipment of approximately
HK$184,000 (2016: HK$2,767,000). As at 31 March 2017 and 2016,
the Group had no significant capital commitment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2017 and 2016, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS
As at 31 March 2017 and 2016, the Group had no charges on the
Group's assets.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had 72 employees (including 5
Directors) (2016: 114 employees (including 7 Directors)). The total
remuneration paid to employees, including Directors, for the year
ended 31 March 2017 was approximately HK$20,045,000 (2016:
HK$21,030,000). Remuneration is determined by reference to market
terms and the performance, qualification and experience of each
individual employee. Annual year-end double pay is paid based on each
individual employee’s performance as recognition of and reward for
their contributions. Other benefits accruing to the employees include
contributions made to statutory mandatory provident fund scheme
and a group medical scheme. We also subsidize our employees for
pursuing further studies in related fields.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group had no significant
investment.

FUTURE PROSPECTS AND PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Moving ahead in 2017/2018, in light of China's prolonged economic
slowdown and intensified competition in the telecommunications
industry, the Group displays a relatively conservative but still positive
stance to the future outlook. With an ever increasing usage of
mobile phones around the globe, the Group will continue to position
its payment system platform as its core business with prominent
development into diverse aspects. The Company will put ceaseless
efforts to build up an ecosystem comprising unified payment system
platform of daily life, comprehensive payment system platform as
well as third party connection point. We anticipate the three platforms
can create synergy and enhance cooperation amongst the Group’s
projects to provide consumer-friendly payment services.
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The management will continue to weigh on the unified payment
system platform to promote its development and enrich services
to customers. After the platform becoming complete and mature,
the management will seek opportunities to replicate existing model
and sell it to other units and/or subsidiaries of existing partners and
potential new partners. The management will steer the Company
to align with a batch of key players in the telecommunications
and multimedia industry especially state-owned enterprises and
governmental institutions. The Group will maintain existing business
blueprints while also pursue potential resources to expand our
coverage for online and offline payment services. We execute
strategic link-up agreements whereby the parties concerned can work
together to formulate new businesses for our mutual benefit.

By teaming up with Shanghai CT E-commerce, the Company has
already completed the installation of POS terminals in certain retail
locations in Beijing under one network. The Company is planning to
expand the POS installation network to other industry in the realms of
daily living facilities such as convenience stores.

To optimize resource, the Company will embark on restructuring
China Mobile Payment to diversify and upgrade its services which
is in line with the Group's overall strategy for mobile networks and
payment services. The business of China Mobile Payment is expected
to embrace a recovery, generate additional revenue for the Group and
propel sustainable growth momentum in the upcoming year.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company (“2017
Annual General Meeting”) will be held on Tuesday, 1 August 2017
at 2:00 p.m. at Falcon Room 1, Basement, Gloucester Luk Kwok Hong
Kong, 72 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to attend
and vote at the 2017 Annual General Meeting of the Company to
be held on Tuesday, 1 August 2017, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Thursday, 27 July 2017 to Tuesday,
1 August 2017, both dates inclusive. During this period, no transfer
of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to qualify to
attend and vote at the aforesaid meeting, all share certificates with
completed transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong Branch Share Registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited,
Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, WWanchai, Hong
Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 26 July 2017.

*  For identification only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions (“Code Provisions")
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the "Code”) as set out in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Company has complied
with the Code Provisions set out in the Code throughout the year
ended 31 March 2017 except for the deviations from Code Provisions
A.1.8 and A.2.1 of the Code as explained as follows:

Code Provision A.1.8

Code Provision A.1.8 stipulates that the Company should arrange
appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against its
directors.

During the reporting period, the Board considered that under the
current close management situation of the Group and business scale,
the possibility of actual litigation against the Directors is very low. The
Company will consider reviewing various insurance cover proposals
and will make such an arrangement as appropriate.

Code Provision A.2.1
Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separated.

The executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Xiaogi, Mr. Lam Chi Man
and Mr. Ho Yeung are focused on evaluating new potential business
and investment opportunities and formulating and implementing
business strategies to enhance the revenue and growth potential of
the Company. Hence, a new chairman and chief executive officer will
not be appointed until suitable candidates have been identified for
such purpose.

The Board will continue to monitor and review the Company’s
corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with the Code.

The Board conducted reviews of the system of internal controls of the
Group to ensure an effective and adequate internal controls system
is in place. The Board also convened meetings to discuss financial,
operational and risk management controls.
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Code Provision C.2

The Board has conducted a review of its risk management and internal
control systems under Code Provision C2 of Appendix 15 of the GEM
Listing Rule.

The Board has engaged independent consultants to execute the
internal audit and risk management functions. The Board reviews risk
management and internal control systems on an annual basis and
when necessary.

A review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems has been conducted and the Company considers
them effective and adequate during the period under review.

However, an issue arose after the financial period under review that
the Company failed to maintain a sufficient public float of not less
than 25% of the total issued share capital of the Company as required
under the GEM Listing Rules due to inadvertent oversight. The
management of the Company will take measures to prevent similar
incident from occurring in the future by taking active steps to observe
the public float requirement from time to time.

In 2017, the Company continued to implement and follow up on those
suggestions and recommendations made by Lai Ying Wai Certified
Public Accountant Hong Kong (“LAI YING WAI CPA") as part of their
2016 comprehensive review on the internal controls of the Group. As
such, the Group’s internal supervision and risk prevention measures
continue to improve.

COMPLIANCE OF CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiry, all current Directors have
complied with the required standard of dealings and the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by directors adopted by the
Company throughout the year ended 31 March 2017.
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MAINTENANCE OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
a sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total issued share
capital of the Company as required under the GEM Listing Rules
throughout the year 31 March 2017.

Following the appointment of Mr. Ho Yeung on 1 June 2017 as
executive Director to the Company, the public float of the Company
fell under 25% and the minimum public float requirement under Rule
11.23(7) of the GEM Listing Rules was not satisfied.

The shortfall was due to the inadvertent oversight of the total
percentage of shareholding held by Mr. Ho Yeung and Mr. Wang
Xiaogi who are connected persons shareholder (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) and Happy On Holdings Limited which is a controlling
shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company.

Since Mr. Ho Yeung and Mr. Wang Xiaoqgi are Directors of the
Company, the dealing restrictions under Rule 5.56(a) as contained in
the GEM Listing Rules which restricts dealings in securities of the
Company by the Directors during the period of 60 days immediately
preceding the publication date of the annual results of the Company,
i.e. 16 June 2017 would be applicable to both Mr. Ho Yeung and Mr.
Wang Xiaogi. Accordingly, Mr. Ho Yeung and Mr. Wang Xiaogi would
be restricted from disposing of the Shares held by each of him during
the aforementioned blackout period commencing 12 April 2017 and
ending on 16 June 2017.

Mr. Ho Yeung had indicated his willingness to sell a portion of his
shareholdings to maintain the public float to the statutory requirement,
and he is currently taking measures to dispose of his shares at the
earliest opportunity after 16 June 2017. The Company will take
measures to prevent similar incident from occurring in the future by
taking active steps to observe the public float requirement from time
to time.

18 YUNBO DIGITAL SYNERGY GROUP LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017

EBARERE
REARATREZARENRBEES
il ARRAIRBE-F—LF=A
S+-RLEFEE#BARARER
& - ARAEBITRARBERDHN25%
MARALIE  HaalER R
ZHE o

RZEBE—tFNA—BZEMFELESR
KRBT ESR - ARBIZRARFER
2ER25% + ReeFF A BIFER EmRAY
FN2NGE2HERBRBRELT -

EHCRARBERAMFLERTE
BEE(RERBEATRE(ER LA
ERETRA) AR BHERKRE(EE
R AR _Em R B )Happy On Holdings
Limited T2 Bt E DL

MR AIFEAE R EBRREE /AR F
ZEE - A ZER LR RIS 5.56(a) 5
B RNZRZRHN(ERFIBFREEZAR
AIFERETERRBI T —+FA
TRE)AEORHEANEEALRR ZE
F)FERNMITFRER TR L - &
b AFEERERBEER T —+
FUATZHRERE-Z—LtFRATRK
BIEZ i SEMANRERESBRE
Z B BRI o

MFTEERBEEELERER IR
B UABFARKRESEAEENR K
BRAIERBITHR _ZE—EF A TR
BEERHDERBRD - NARFERERE
e - BIlE BR HIRBUAEH - TR EREL
BRITHANETRARFERERE °



EFFECTIVE AND EXPERIENCED BOARD

Board Composition

The Board comprised the following members during the year and at the

date of this report:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Yau Hoi Kin

(Resigned on 26 January 2017)
Mr. Wang Xiaoqi
Mr. Lam Chi Man

(Appointed on 12 January 2017)
Mr. Ho Yeung

(Appointed on 1 June 2017)

Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Hsu Chia-Chun
(Retired on 24 August 2016)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Dr. Chow Ka Ming, Jimmy

(Retired on 30 January 2017)
Mr. Ngan Yu Loong

(Resigned on 12 January 2017)
Dr. Wong Wing Lit

(Retired on 17 February 2017)
Mr. Lam Wing Keung

(Appointed on 12 January 2017)
Mr. Lau Chor Ki

(Appointed on 1 June 2017)
Mr. Gao Ping

(Appointed on 12 January 2017)
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony

Board Meeting

The Board meets at least four times a year to, among other matters,
review past financial and operating performance and discuss the

Group's direction and strategy.

During the year under review, six Board meetings were held.

Corporate Governance Report

1k 3% B iRl

MERBRREZEESS
EERER

EEENFARARSE BBEEUTRE
A

BITES

HEREE
(R=ZF—+F—H =+ AT
FER LA

MEX A
(R=ZF—+F—A+=ZHEZE)

fAESE
(R=ZF—FFNA—HEZ)

FHITES:
ekt E
(R=—F—NENAZFAHRE)

BYFHTES
FEAEL
(R-—F—+F—HA=+HRE)
EAMBESEE
(R—F—tF— A1 —HEFE)
HARAE L
(R=—F—tF-A1T+HREFE)
MoksR T E
(R-—F—+F— A+ _HEZE)
Wt Z et
(R—F—+FNA—HEZE)
ER et
(R=—F—tF—A+-HEZE)
TFEELE

ridninl
EEEROSERTMARH  HHE
B R R - B
S8 7R R -

REEFE - HBETNREFEEE -

THEXSERRLAR | ZT—tFERE 19



Corporate Governance Report

1 3% 4% R W

Details of the attendance of the Board during the year are as follows:

TREJESEE 2 FAHFECHFFS

Attendance/ Attendance/
Number Number
of Board of General
meetings meetings
held during held during
the year the year
HERE, HERE,
FRETZ FREFTZ
EZgediy BRRAERE
Mr. Yau Hoi Kin mERLE 5/5 1/1
(Resigned on 26 January 2017) (R=ZF—+F—H =+ HEHF)
Mr. Wang Xiaog TRERETE 6/6 0/1
Mr. Lam Chi Man MEXKE 2/2 —/-
(Appointed on 12 January 2017) (R=ZF—+F—HAT-HEZHF)
Mr. Hsu Chia-Chun GEELE 0/2 11
(Retired on 24 August 2016) (R=F—NF/\ A= 1HHRITF)
Mr. Ngan Yu Loong BB 4/4 171
(Resigned on 12 January 2017) (R=—F—+F—F+-HEF)
Dr. Chow Ka Ming, Jimmy HEA e 4/5 171
(Retired on 30 January 2017) (R=—FE—+F—F=1HRHE)
Dr. Wong Wing Lit HEZIEL 5/6 I
(Retired on 17 February 2017) (R=F—+F= F++HRAE)
Mr. Lam Wing Keung MoK T 2/2 -/~
(Appointed on 12 January 2017) (RZF—+F—HA+=HEZF)
Mr. Gao Ping SEEE 2/2 —/-
(Appointed on 12 January 2017) (R=ZF—+F—HT-HEZHF)
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony MFEEEA 5/6 11
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Functions of the Board

The Board is responsible for formulating the Group's overall
strategy, considering and approving financial statements, material
contracts and transactions as well as other significant policy and
financial matters. The Board delegates the day to day operation and
administration functions to the executive Directors and management,
while preserving the right to finally approve key matters and
strategic decisions. When the Board delegates certain aspects of its
management and administration functions to management, it gives
clear directions as to the powers of management, in particular, with
respect to the circumstances where management should report back
and obtain prior approval from the Board before making decisions
or entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company. The
Directors do not have any financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other.

The Board understands that they are responsible for the design
and implementation of the risk management systems, as well as
monitoring and review of the effectiveness of such systems. The
Board has delegated such responsibility to the executive Directors and
the Management of the Group, and the executive Directors and the
Management will report to the Board any findings regarding the risk
management systems of the Group.

The Board and the Management have reviewed the Group’s financial,
operation, compliance and strategic aspects and identified certain risk
areas. During the year, the Group has established a risk management
policy and risk reporting mechanism. Our risk management policy
covers various aspects including systematic risk identification and
assessment and risk response processes, and a comprehensive risk
monitoring and reporting mechanism.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings
Schedules and draft proposed agendas for all Board and committee
meetings are normally made available to Directors in advance.

Notice to regular Board meetings is served to all Directors at least 14
business days before the meeting. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors/committee members, to the
extent possible, at least 3 days before each Board or committee
meeting to keep the Directors or committee members apprised of the
latest developments and financial position of the Company enabling
them to make informed decisions. The Board and each Director have
separate and independent access to senior management whenever it
deems necessary.
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The secretary of the meeting is responsible to take and keep minutes
of all Board and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after
each meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.

According to the current practices of the Board, any material
transaction, which involves a conflict of interests relating to a
substantial shareholder, director or Directors, will be considered
and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting. The
Company'’s articles of association also contains provisions requiring
Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum
at meetings for approving transactions in which such substantial
shareholder, director or Directors or any of their associates have a
material interest.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

According to the Company's articles of association, one-third of the
Directors are required to retire from office at each annual general
meeting, provided that every director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

According to the Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific term of service, subject to
re-election.

Mr. Yau Hoi Kin was appointed as executive Director with effect from
30 January 2012. Mr. Yau entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of 3 years commencing from 30 January 2012
and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Company’s articles of association. Subsequently, Mr. Yau did
not have a fixed term of service with the Company but are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company. The remuneration of Mr. Yau is determined with reference
to his qualifications, experience and duties and responsibilities in
the Group and prevailing market conditions. Mr. Yau resigned on
26 January 2017 due to his wish to devote more time on his other
personal endeavours.

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi was appointed as executive Director with effect
from 17 March 2015. Mr. Wang presently does not have a fixed term
of service with the Company but is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company. The
remuneration of Mr. Wang is determined with reference to his
qualifications, experience and duties and responsibilities in the Group
and prevailing market conditions.
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Mr. Hsu Chia-Chun was appointed as non-executive Director
with effect from 24 August 2012. Mr. Hsu entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company on 24 August 2012 for a term of one
year subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with the
Company'’s articles of association. Mr. Hsu subsequently entered
into three letter of appointments with term of one year each with the
Company, the last of the letter of appointment has an expiry date
of 24 August 2016. Mr. Hsu retired upon expiration of his service
contract with effect from 24 August 2016.

On 21 June 2012, two of the independent non-executive Directors,
namely Dr. Chow Ka Ming, Jimmy and Dr. Wong Wing Lit, entered
into an appointment letter with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from 30 January 2012 and 17 February 2012,
respectively, and are subject to retirement by rotation as they shall
offer themselves for re-election in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association. On 12 June 2015, each of Dr. Chow and Dr.
Wong entered into a new appointment letter with the Company
for a term of one year commencing from 30 January 2015 and 17
February 2015, respectively, renewable automatically thereafter until
termination by either the Company or the Director giving to the other
not less than one month’s notice in writing and subject to retirement
by rotation as they shall offer themselves for re-election in accordance
with the Company's articles of association. Dr. Chow had retired as
an independent non-executive Director upon expiration of his letter of
appointment with effect from 30 January 2017. Dr. Wong had retired as
an independent non-executive Director upon expiration of his letter of
appointment with effect from 17 February 2017.

Mr. Ngan Yu Loong was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 2 December 2013. Mr. Ngan entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 2 December 2013 and is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company's articles of
association. Mr. Ngan had resigned as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 12 January 2017 due to his wish to devote
more time on his other personal endeavours.
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Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company with effect from 15 May 2014. Mr.
Tse entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term
of three years commencing on 15 May 2014 and another letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of two years commencing
on 16 May 2017, and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election in accordance with the Company's articles of association.

Mr. Lam Chi Man was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company with effect from 12 January 2017. Mr. Lam entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of 3 years commencing
on 12 January 2017, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
in accordance with the Company'’s articles of association.

Mr. Lam Wing Keung was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 12 January 2017. Mr Lam
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
3 years commencing on 12 January 2017, subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company's articles of
association.

Mr. Gao Ping was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 12 January 2017, Mr. Gao
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
3 years commencing on 12 January 2017, subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company's articles of
association.

Mr. Ho Yeung was appointed as an executive Director of the Company
with effect from 1 June 2017. Mr. Ho entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of 3 years commencing on 1 June 2017
and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Company'’s articles of association.

Mr. Lau Chor Ki was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 1 June 2017. Mr. Lau Chor
Ki entered into a letter of Appointment with the Company for a term
of 3 years commencing on 1 June 2017 and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s articles
of association.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual confirmations from each of
the current independent non-executive Directors as regards their
independence of the Company pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules and considers that each of the current independent non-
executive Directors to be independent of the Company.

TERM OF OFFICE OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

The term of office for Mr. Hsu Chia-Chun, the non-executive Director,
is for a period of one year commencing from 24 August 2015. Mr. Hsu
had retired as a non-executive Director upon expiration of his service
contract with effect from 24 August 2016.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Code Provision A.2.1 stipulated that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separated.

The executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Xiaogi, Mr. Lam Chi Man
and Mr. Ho Yeung are focused on evaluating new potential business
and investment opportunities and formulating a new business strategy
to enhance the revenue and growth potential of the Company. Hence,
a new chairman and chief executive officer will not be appointed until
suitable candidates have been identified for such purpose.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Information of
Directors and Senior Management”, there is no financial, business,
family or other material and/or relevant relationship between the
executive Directors and members of the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee"”) was
established in May 2000, and the Company had adopted a revised
specific terms of reference as of 11 November 2016 in accordance
with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Currently, the Audit Committee comprised Mr. Lam Wing Keung, Mr.
Gao Ping, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, all of whom
are independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Lam Wing Keung is
the current chairman of the Audit Committee. He was appointed
as a member of the Audit Committee with effect from 12 January
2017. Mr. Ngan Yu Loong had resigned as the chairman of the Audit
Committee with effect from 12 January 2017 due to his wish to
devote more time on his other personal endeavours. Following his
resignation, Mr. Lam Wing Keung, an independent non-executive
Director, was appointed as chairman of the Audit Committee with
effect from 12 January 2017. Mr. Gao Ping was appointed as a
member of the Audit Committee with effect from 12 January
2017. Dr. Chow Ka Ming, Jimmy had retired as a member of the
Audit Committee upon expiration of his letter of appointment with
effect from 30 January 2017; and Dr. Wong Wing Lit had retired as
a member of the Audit Committee upon expiration of his letter of
appointment with effect from 17 February 2017. Mr. Lau Chor Ki an
independent non-executive Director was appointed as a member of
the Audit Committee with effect from 1 June 2017.
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The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Group's
audit findings, accounting policies and standards, changes of
accounting rules (if any), compliance to the GEM Listing Rules, internal
and audit control, and cash flow forecast.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated results of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 and the internal control
system of the Group.

During the year, the Group’s unaudited quarterly and half-yearly results
and audited annual results for the year ended 31 March 2017 have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee and have opined such financial
statements complied with the applicable accounting standards and
that adequate disclosures have been made.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered the internal control
and risk management mechanism of the Group to be operating
effectively for the year ended 31 March 2017.

During the year under review, four meetings of the Audit Committee
were held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Audit
Committee meetings are as follows:
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Attendance/
Number of

Audit Committee
meetings held
during the year

HERE,
RERETZ
EREZEEERNRH
Mr. Lam Wing Keung (Chairman) MOKREE(ER)

(Appointed on 12 January 2017) (R=ZF—+F—H+=-HEZH) 11
Mr. Ngan Yu Loong (Chairman) EEMAREE(EE)

(Resigned on 12 January 2017) (R-ZFE—+F— A+ HFFHE) 3/3
Dr. Chow Ka Ming, Jimmy (Retired on 30 January 2017) BB (R -E—+F—A=+HRL) 2/3
Dr. Wong Wing Lit (Retired on 17 February 2017) HENEL(R=FE—+F A ++HEE) 3/4
Mr. Gao Ping (Appointed on 12 January 2017) BERE(R=FE—F— A+ -HEZE) /1
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE A 3/4
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established in November 2005 and the Company
had adopted a revised specific terms of reference as of 2 December
2013 in accordance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules
and the requirements set out under Code Provision.

Currently, the Remuneration Committee comprised Mr. Lam Wing
Keung, Mr. Gao Ping, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, all
of whom are independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Lam Wing
Keung is the current chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
He was appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee
with effect from 12 January 2017. Mr. Ngan Yu Loong had resigned
as a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from
12 January 2017 due to his wish to devote more time on his other
personal endeavours. Mr. Gao Ping was appointed as a member of
the Remuneration Committee with effect from 12 January 2017. Dr.
Chow Ka Ming, Jimmy had retired as the member and chairman of the
Remuneration Committee upon expiration of his letter of appointment
with effect from 30 January 2017. Following his resignation, Mr. Lam
Wing Keung, an independent non-executive Director, was appointed
as chairman of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 30
January 2017, and Dr. Wong Wing Lit had retired as a member
of the Remuneration Committee upon expiration of his letter of
appointment with effect from 17 February 2017. Mr. Lau Chor Ki, an
independent non-executive Director was appointed as a member of
the Remuneration Committee with effect from 1 June 2017.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once annually or on an
as needed basis. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of Directors and senior management and determine on behalf of
the Board the specific remuneration packages and conditions of
employment for executive Directors and senior management.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Remuneration
Committee has performed its duties to review the remuneration of
Board members and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration package of Mr. Lam Chi Man, Mr. Lam Wing Keung and
Mr. Gao Ping.

==

EHEXEEERAA

Corporate Governance Report
1 3% B R

FMZEzEE
ARRFHEZES((FMEESR )N
EERF+— AKX - AAFCREE
¥R =R BIEES.34&E5.361& A K 5FRI
BXAFBZRER_TE—=F+=-A=
HERMEIEET 2 BEIEEE -

BHE - SRS @dmioxmits - 5F
L MRZFRERHTEHEEEAK
MELRBILIFATES - oKREE
REFMNEZESHREIF - REZERF
MzEeX8 B -_T—tF—A+=
HELAY BERELERARTRERNES
HRENEBEASESE R_FT—tF—H
T_HEBEFMEZESKE - 5T 5%
ERZERFHMEZEEKE  B-F
—tF-A+-_RBER - ARRBEL
R-ZE—+tF-—A=+BHEZEHEW
BEETFHNEREGKBRER - HBE
% WUFMITESHOKBREZERH
MEEeFR BT —+tF—HA=+
BEAY MERUELINR T —LF
“ATEREZRFEREREREREFMEZ
BENXE - BUIFATEFIEST L
B-ZE—tFR A BEEZEREM

ZEEKE -

FHZEEEFRIEE —R(HERFR
M) ¥FHMEEScITEREARNE
EhEAEEEcFMMESTSRLZ
WK REZEETHTESTRSN
BB E H N R R AR AT -

p 7 — &

REBEE-_ZE—+tF=-_A=+—HI1tHF
B FHEEeEBITESHESEN
BEHMBE - WHHREEE - Mok
wEERSTEECZTFNGTENEES
REHEER -

TR EERE 27



Corporate Governance Report
1 3% 6 Wk

During the year under review, two meetings of the Remuneration
Committee were held. Details of the members’ attendance of the

Remuneration Committee meeting are as follows:

REESE - HHEE R ERATMAR
o FME AR E 2 R R
BT -

Attendance/
Number of
Remuneration
Committee
meetings held
during the year

HERE,
REREITZ
FMZEEESRAH
Mr. Lam Wing Keung (Chairman) MoksR A (EF)

(Appointed on 12 January 2017) (R-_F—+F—F+ - HEZT)

(Re-designated as Chairman on 30 January 2017) (R-E—+F—A=1HEFFELBLE) -/-
Dr. Chow Ka Ming, Jimmy (Chairman) AsREL(EE)

(Retired on 30 January 2017) (R=F—+F—H=1HRF) 2/2
Dr. Wong Wing Lit (Retired on 17 February 2017) HEINET (R -FE—+E = F++HRE) 2/2
Mr. Ngan Yu Loong (Resigned on 12 January 2017) EERBE R (R —E—+F—F+ - HFT) 2/2
Mr. Gao Ping (Appointed on 12 January 2017) BERE(R=FE—+F— A+ -HEZE) /-
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE A 2/2

The policies for the remuneration of executive Directors and, if

appropriate, independent non-executive Directors are:

° to ensure that none of the Directors should determine their own

remuneration;

° the remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with

which the Company competes for human resources;

° the Group should aim to attract and retain executives and to
motivate them to pursue appropriate growth strategies whilst

taking into account individual performance; and

° the remuneration should reflect the performance, complexity of

duties and responsibility of individuals.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established in May 2011 and the Company
had adopted a revised specific written terms of reference as of 2
December 2013 in compliance with the Code Provision A.5.

Currently, the Nomination Committee comprised Mr. Lam Wing
Keung, Mr. Gao Ping, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony all
of whom are independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Lam Wing
Keung is the current chairman of the Nomination Committee. He
was appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee with
effect from 12 January 2017. Mr. Ngan Yu Loong had resigned as the
chairman of the Nomination Committee with effect from 12 January
2017 due to his wish to devote more time on his other personal
endeavours. Following his resignation, Mr. Lam Wing Keung, an
independent non-executive Director, was appointed as chairman of
the Nomination Committee with effect from 12 January 2017. Mr. Gao
Ping was appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee with
effect from 12 January 2017. Dr. Chow Ka Ming, Jimmy had retired
as a member of the Nomination Committee upon expiration of his
letter of appointment with effect from 30 January 2017; and Dr. Wong
Wing Lit had retired as a member of the Nomination Committee upon
expiration of his letter of appointment with effect from 17 February
2017. Mr. Lau Chor Ki, an independent non-executive Director, was
appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee with effect
from 1 June 2017.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to identify
potential candidates and make recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Nomination Committee has
performed its duties to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of Mr. Lam Chi Man, Mr. Lam Wing Keung and Mr. Gao
Ping.

Pursuant to code provision A.5.6 of the Code, the Board has adopted
a board diversity policy and the Nomination Committee is responsible
for monitoring the achievement of the measurable objectives set out
in the policy.

The Company recognizes and seizes the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to
achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development.
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In designing the Board’'s composition, board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. All Board appointments will be
based on merit, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

During the year under review, two meetings of the Nomination
Committee were held. Details of the members’ attendance of the
Nomination Committee are as follows:

AHEEFEEZAAME - ARREE
LHhEEREEEXE LT BHEE
TRAMER - Fik - XERBESS
HELR  RERANE - 2REFTENX
B2ZERARARABRA - AEE
BANEREUNEBGRERDBERESTENX
BZlb i

REEFE  REZBEELRITMAE
& RELZBENBHEFBNOT

S
IS

=111’

Attendance/
Number of
Nomination
Committee
meetings held
during the year

HERE,
RERBITZ
REZES
BRRH
Mr. Lam Wing Keung (Chairman) MokeR A (EF)

(Appointed on 12 January 2017) (R-F—+F— A+ -HEZ(F) /-
Mr. Ngan Yu Loong (Chairman) EARBER A (ER)

(Resigned on 12 January 2017 (R=ZF—+F— A+ =HEHT) 2/2
Dr. Chow Ka Ming, Jimmy (Retired on 30 January 2017)  BARAB+ (R -FE—+tF—H=+HRTE) 2/2
Dr. Wong Wing Lit (Retired on 17 February 2017) HEINET (R -FE—+E = F++HRE) 2/2
Mr. Gao Ping (Appointed on 12 January 2017) SV hE(R-E—+F—F+—HEZHE) /-
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HIFEILE 2/2
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance
practices relevant to the model and growth of its business. In order
to achieve a right balance between governance and performance, the
Board is responsible for introducing and proposing relevant principles
concerning corporate governance so as to enhance the standard of
corporate governance of the Company.

The Board is primarily responsible for performing the following
corporate governance functions:

(a) to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the board;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Group’'s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors;
and

(e) to review the Group’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.

The details of the corporate governance functions reviewed and
performed by the Board during the year are disclosed and explained in
this Corporate Governance Report

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the Code Provision A.6.5, all directors should participate
in continuous professional development and refresh their knowledge
and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board remains
informed and relevant. To ensure the Directors’ contribution to the
Board remain informed and relevant, the Company will be responsible
for arranging and finding suitable training for Directors.

The Company will provide a comprehensive package of induction
materials about the duties, responsibilities and liabilities as well as
statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company.
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BE_ZT—+tF=A=1+—RHIEHEF
B SREERZEAEIIEEET L0

During the financial year ended 31 March 2017, an individual training
record of each current Director is set out below:

N

Attending or
participating in
courses/seminars/
conference/
workshops

relevant to rules and
regulations and the
Group's business/
directors’ duties

Reading materials
relating to rules
and regulations

and discharge of
directors’ duties and
Responsibilities

HERS mE
rEEEYK
ESREEEZ MERRLIRRK
ER KA EOI % BT
RE Mg EERER
Name of Director EEpg 8% TEH BEEzms
Executive Directors BHITES
Mr. Yau Hoi Kin ek E - -
(Resigned on 26 January 2017) (RZF—+F—H 1 NAEHE)
Mr. Wang Xiaogi TERLE v/ v/
Mr. Lam Chi Man MEX TS 4 v
(Appointed on 12 January 2017) (RZF—+F— A+ =HEZF)
Non-Executive Directors *HTES
Mr. Hsu Chia-Chun hEREL - -
(Retired on 24 August 2016) (R=F—NFNHA=FIHRE)
Independent Non-Executive Directors BAEHTES
Dr. Chow Ka Ming, Jimmy ARAE T - -
(Retired on 30 January 2017) (R=F—+F—FA=1HRF)
Dr. Wong Wing Lit BRET - -
(Retired on 17 February 2017) (R=F—+F=F++HRF)
Mr. Ngan Yu Loong BB A - -
(Resigned on 12 January 2017) (R-ZF—+F—H1T_HFHE)
Mr. Gao Ping =EEE v v
(Appointed on 12 January 2017) (RZF—+F—HA+=HEZ(F)
Mr. Lam Wing Keung MoKR L4 v 4
(Appointed on 12 January 2017) (RZF—+F—HA+=HEZF)
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFELE 4 v
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COMPANY SECRETARY

In view of the resignation of Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, Michael, an external
service provider, as the company secretary of the Company with
effect from 7 February 2017, the Company engaged an external
service provider, Mr. Chow Chun Man (“Mr. Chow") as its company
secretary. Although Mr. Chow is accessible by all executive Directors
and senior management, Mr. Wang Xiaogi, Mr. Lam Chi Man and
Mr. Ho Yeung, our executive Directors, are the principal persons with
whom Mr. Chow liaises with. For the year ended 31 March 2017, Mr.
Chow has received relevant professional training of not less than 15
hours to update his skills and knowledge.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
were audited by McMillan Woods SG CPA Limited whose term of
office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. The
Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that McMillan
Woods SG CPA Limited will be re-appointed as auditors of the
Company for approval by the shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

During the year under review, the remuneration paid or payable to the
Company's auditors, McMillan Woods SG CPA Limited, in respect of
its audit services and Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited, in respect of
its non-audit was as follow:
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Type of Services HKS' 000
PR 7% %8 Bl THERT
Audit services BIZIRS 333
Non-audit services IEEZARTE 258
Total #Et 591

During the year under review, part of the auditors’ remuneration for
non-audit service assignments was paid to Grant Thornton Hong Kong
Limited in relation to reviewing 2016/2017 1st quarterly report of
the Company for an amount of HK$10,000 and reviewing 2016/2017
interim report of the Company for an amount of HK$55,000.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board together with the Management has developed the
Group's internal control, risk assessment and management systems.
The Board has overall responsibility for reviewing and maintaining
adequate and effective risk management and internal control systems
to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and the assets of the
Group.

The Board has delegated the responsibility of monitoring the Group's
risk management and internal control systems to the executive
Directors and the Management, and the executive Directors and the
Management will report to the Board of any findings regarding the risk
management systems of the Group from time to time.

The Board reviews and evaluates the effectiveness of the systems at
least annually to ensure the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage and mitigate risks, rather than eliminate risks,
of failure to achieve the business objectives of the Group, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. We have employed a bottom-up approach for
identification, assessment and mitigation of risk at all business unit
levels and across functional areas.

Main features of Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
The key elements of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems include the establishment of a risk management
policy and a risk reporting mechanism to keep track of and document
identified risks, the assessment and evaluation of risks, the respective
responsive procedures, and the ongoing testing of internal control
procedures to ensure their effectiveness.

The Board has taken into consideration factors including but not
limited to the followings when identifying and assessing the key
inherent risks that affect the achievements of the Group’s objectives:

° the nature and extent of the risks facing the Group;

° the extent and categories of risk that the Board regards as
acceptable for the Group to bear;

° the likelihood of the risks materialising;
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° the Group's ability to reduce the incidence and impact on the
business of risks that do materialise; and

o the costs of operating particular controls relative to the benefit
thereby obtained in managing the related risks.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks
During the process of risk assessment, the Board captures and
identifies the key inherent risks that affect the achievement of its
objectives by performing the followings:

° understanding organisational objectives and business processes;

o determining the risk appetite and establishing the risk assessment
criteria;

o identifying the risks associated with achieving or not achieving
the objectives and assessing the likelihood and potential impact
of particular risks; and

° monitoring and evaluating the risks and the arrangements in
place to address them.

Process used to review the effectiveness of the Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems and to resolve material internal
control defects

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the Risk Management and
Internal Control Systems by considering factors including but not
limited to the followings:

o the changes since the last annual review in the nature and extent
of significant risks, and the Group's ability to respond to changes
in its business and the external environment;

o the scope and quality of Management’s monitoring of risks and
of the system of internal control, and where applicable, the work
of its internal audit function and other third party consultants;

° the extent and frequency of the communication of the results
of the monitoring to the Board or the Audit Committee which
enables it to build up a cumulative assessment of the state of
control in the Group’s and the effectiveness with which risk is
being managed;
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° the incidence of significant control failings or weakness that
has been identified at any time during the period and the
extent to which they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or
contingencies that have had, could have had, or may in the future
have, a material impact on the Group’s financial performance or
condition; and

o the effectiveness of the Group's processes relating to financial
reporting and Listing Rules compliance.

In view of the Group's business and scale of operations, and in order
to adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting periodic
reviews of the Group's internal controls, the Board has engaged an
independent consultant LAl YING WAI CPA to execute the internal
audit function. LAI YING WAI CPA has conducted an internal control
review of the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting
procedures, systems and control for the period from 1 April 2016
to 31 March 2017 in accordance with the requirements under Code
Provision C.2 of the CG Code, according to the scope of review agreed
and approved by the Audit Committee.

The Internal Control Auditor reported to the Audit Committee and
the Audit Committee was satisfied that there had been no major
deficiency noted in the areas of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems being reviewed after implementation of
the recommendations on the internal control defects reported by
LAI' YING WAI CPA. The Audit Committee reviews annually the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's financial reporting
system, internal control system and risk management system and
associated procedures and has access to information necessary to
fulfil its duties and responsibilities with respect to risk assessment and
risk management. Accordingly, the Audit Committee and the Board
considered the risk management and internal control systems to be
effective and have been implemented with adequate resources during
the year.

However, an issue arose after the financial period under review that
the Company failed to maintain a sufficient public float of not less
than 25% of the total issued share capital of the Company as required
under the GEM Listing Rules due to inadvertent oversight. The
management of the Company will take measures to prevent similar
incident from occurring in the future by taking active steps to observe
the public float requirement from time to time.

36 YUNBO DIGITAL SYNERGY GROUP LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2017

o BAEARBENREARRARR
EBROHRY - RHEICREHE
AEERARAEROBRERE -
BB RAERY A EBORTE
RSRREEL - THEEELERS
KA BELEAVE R

o AKEABMBRENRLEMRANE
BRI AL

ERAEEXEBREERE - BERMNKR
B ARSI A NS B A PRI
TEHRS  EESC BB BB
JEEGFRIEIT A TR B 8L - B2E(E
SHAIERBEZZEHE RILEDN
m SRR B EESTRIEC2EET
HEH-_FT—R"FOA—HEZZ—+
FZA=T—HILERAASETBRE
B RS REENB R #EITASE

ERRET o

NIEZBECAEZZEGER - NF
B IR B 2 5T AP BE A AR BE R R K IE R EY
EEE - AREKRFRREENA
MEERABRARERERNRK - BRE
BEHURTME - ERZBEEFR

SADTMPBRE RS  NBERER
GREBES  REBEFETES R

B WEBRBEER - NETTHRRE
RABREREENEERER - B
It BREZEGREFERA  FAA
REELRANNEERGEBERLCHE
BRFTRAIE TRIAEE °

AW BERFHRBERELE—HEE
REENRZ  EARRARENERIZE
R EMRARE - #RARBFEHTR
REETDPNR2B%BHRRALHEZRE
RAZFHEE - ARmBERBRER
IF B HBRBEUES - PRRIERT
BUBTRARKRERT °



Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure potential inside
information being captured and confidentiality of such information
being maintained until consistent and timely disclosure are made in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The policy regulates the handling
and dissemination of inside information, which includes:

o Designated reporting channels from different operations
informing any potential inside information to designated
departments;

° Designated persons and departments to determine further
escalation and disclosure as required; and

° Designated persons authorised to act as spokespersons and
respond to external enquiries.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group to be operating effectively.

However, an issue arose after the financial period under review that
the Company failed to maintain a sufficient public float of not less
than 25% of the total issued share capital of the Company as required
under the GEM Listing Rules due to inadvertent oversight. The
management of the Company will take measures to prevent similar
incident from occurring in the future by taking active steps to observe
the public float requirement from time to time.

In 2017, the Company continued to implement and follow up on those
suggestions and recommendations made by LAl YING WAI CPA as
part of their 2016 comprehensive review on the internal controls of the
Group. As such, the Group's internal supervision and risk prevention
measures continue to improve.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2017.

The auditors of the Company acknowledge their reporting
responsibilities in the auditors’ report contained in this annual report
for the year ended 31 March 2017.
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There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the re-appointment of the auditors of the Company.

SHAREHOLDER’S RIGHTS

How shareholders can convene an extraordinary general meeting
Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company,
any one or more Members holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition.

The procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board and
sufficient contact details to enable these enquiries to be properly
directed

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
by addressing them to the principal place of business of Company in
Hong Kong at Room 1001, 10th Floor, 23 Hillwood Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong by post for the attention of the Board.

Procedures and sufficient contact details for putting forward
proposals at shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed
at shareholders’ meeting. Proposal shall be sent to the Board by
written requisition. Pursuant to the articles of association of the
Company, a shareholder or shareholders who wish to put forward
a proposal should convene an extraordinary general meeting by
following the procedures as set out in paragraph headed “How
shareholders can convene an extraordinary general meeting” above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has uploaded its memorandum and
articles of association on the websites of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/) and the Company
(http://www.ybds.com.hk/).

There are no significant changes in the Company’'s memorandum and
articles of association during the year ended 31 March 2017.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BB R

ENVIRONMENTAL

Yunbo Digital Synergy Group Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) has introduced environmental protection awareness into
our day-to-day operations. This includes the establishment of general
guidelines for efficient use of resources, daily cost-saving proposals,
paperless office initiatives, water and electricity usage reduction,
and the Group is committed to continuously improve the ways these
initiatives are being promoted. We have also encouraged green
office concept and promoted the 3R concept, i.e. Reduce, Reuse
and Recycle. We have sent emails to remind our employees the
prevention of environmental pollution and encourage waste reduction.

Water efficiency initiatives have also been promoted as we have
reminded our employees to check the water supply equipment, keep
the water tap off when not in use and arrange for immediate repairs in
case of leakage or other damages.

Although the Group has no production facilities such as factories, the
Group has required environmental friendly practices on our suppliers
and business partners. For example, we required our business
partners to have certified with the 1ISO14001 or GB/T24001 or other
related environmental management system certifications. During
supplier and business partner selection processes, we consider
environmental protection as one of the key assessment criteria and
expect the potential impact on the environment to be minimized
during normal operations of our suppliers and business partners.

During the reporting period, the Group has complied with all local
laws and regulations related to environmental protection. No fines or
penalties in violation of local environmental laws and regulations were
imposed on the Group.

Regarding energy and water consumption aspects, the following KPI
data were collected. During the reporting period, the total amount of
electricity and water expenses were approximately HK$121,002.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
By - A REHRERN

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

Employment

Recruitment

The Group has established a comprehensive human resources
management system which requires the employment of employees
based on their experience, qualifications, and knowledge during
the recruitment process. To ensure that the rights and interests
of employees are well protected, employment contracts must be
discussed and agreed with prospective employees regarding salaries,
benefits, annual leave and other employment related issue, prior to
signing by the employees.

Promotion, compensation, and dismissal

Appraisals are regularly performed to consider promotions and salary
increments based on the results of the employees’ performance
reviews. Dismissals of employees have been performed in compliance
with the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57) of Hong Kong and other
local laws and regulations.

Working hours, rest periods and benefits

Both Hong Kong and Mainland offices are provided with a five-day
work week arrangement with annual leaves and other leaves provided
to allow employees to have adequate rest periods. The Group has also
provided medical benefits, MPF schemes (for Hong Kong employees
only) and other benefits to employees.

Equal opportunities, diversity, and anti-discrimination

The Group’s human resources policy states and our management
ensures that no discrimination exists within the Group in terms of
age, sex, marital status, family status, sexuality, disability, nationality
or religion, etc. Any form of discrimination is prohibited during any of
our decision making processes, including normal operations and any
recruitment process.

During the reporting period, we have strictly complied with all

applicable laws and regulations of labour practices, particularly the
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had a total of 76 employees, 6 and 70
of them were located in Hong Kong and PRC respectively. During the
reporting period, a total of 36 employees had left the Group, in which
7 and 29 of them were located in Hong Kong and PRC respectively.

Health and safety

The Group places great importance on our people-oriented principles
and employees’ health and safety, such as providing employees with
masks during haze in Beijing, installing air purifiers at offices, made
available medicines for employees in case of sickness, etc.

To address the wellbeing of employees working in our offices, the
Group has established a health and safety management practices to
enhance their safety management, and promote employee safety
awareness and established safety measures, for example, we will
regularly send emails and relevant materials to employees to advocate
the importance of a safe working environment.

The Group has also set up health and safety requirements for our
suppliers and business partners, for example, business partners
have certified with the OHSAS18001 or GB/T28001 or other related
occupational health and safety management system certifications.

During the reporting period, the Group has fully complied with
relevant occupational health and safety legislations and other relevant
legislations of Hong Kong and the PRC. No work-related fatalities and
no loss days due to work injury were noted.

Development and training

The Group cares about employees’ development and encourages
them to participate in continuous learning through their career with
us. We have our tailor made IT-related examination system for internal
employees from most of the departments. Apart from this, we have
also provided training courses to employees or subsidized them in
joining external training courses organized by professional bodies.
On the other hand, learning experiences will also be provided to
employees through job allocation, and improvements in soft skills will
benefit the employees in their career development in the long run.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BB~ s REREE

Labour standards

Child labour and forced labour are strictly prohibited within the Group.
During the reporting period, the Group has strictly complied with all
respective laws and regulations regarding the employment of child
labour and forced labour. Further, clauses regarding the prevention
of child labour and forced labour were included in the employee
handbook and human resources policies.

The minimum requirement for newly recruited employees of the
Group are graduates from University. Background checks and
reference checks of potential new employees were also performed
during the recruitment process. Relevant details regarding treatment
of employee violation were also included in the employee handbook
and human resources policies.

OPERATING PRACTICES

Supply chain management

During our operations, we encourage our suppliers and business
partners to uphold high moral standards that are in line with ours,
the Group have imposed strict requirements (both environmental
and social requirements) on our suppliers and business partners.
Our partners are all worldwide reputable companies and known
for their ethical standards. In selecting and evaluating our suppliers
and business partners, their attitudes towards environmental and
social issues, including human rights, equal opportunities etc., were
also considered. During the reporting period, there was a total of 6
suppliers and all of them were located in the PRC.

Product responsibility

The Group has continuously paid considerable attention to brand effect
and product quality. We have set high requirements for our suppliers
and business partners during our selection phases. The Group has
also conducted regular sample testing on their products to ensure
high product quality was maintained. They have also emphasized
product quality improvements, provided after-sales services to their
customers, and have continuously work closely with their customers
and business partners to solve problems.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

During the reporting period, no recalls of products had taken place. As
part of the Group’s quality assurance process, the Group will regularly
conduct sample testing for products. Besides, no product complaints
were received, nor any litigations were laid against the Group during
the reporting period. Any incidents (mostly technical problems) were
resolved immediately once occurred.

Regarding the Group’'s trademarks, terms in relation to such
intellectual property rights are included in the cooperation agreements
between the Group and our suppliers and business partners. Besides,
confidentiality agreements must also be signed between the Group
and our suppliers and business partners to protect the Group's
customer data and privacy.

Anti-Corruption

The Group is committed to prohibiting any form of corruption such as
bribery, money laundering, extortion, and fraud. We believe that our
employees, suppliers, and business partners have maintained a strong
ethical conduct during regular business.

Information on preventing bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering are included in the employee handbook of the Group and
was distributed to all employees to follow. Besides, during every
tendering process, an Integrity Agreement must be signed by both the
Group and the suppliers or business partners. The Group has ensured
that all relevant parties will act in accordance with our requirements on
anti-corruption.

During the reporting period, we have strictly complied with relevant
laws and regulations, no litigation cases regarding corruption, bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering were noted.

Community investment

The Group values community contributions and always encourages
our employees to participate in volunteer works. We have carried out
the community and voluntary activities at schools at the end of each
year. During the year, we have also made contributions to the society
through forms of donations to charitable organizations such as social
disability organizations.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi (EEEH % 4E) (“Mr. Wang”), aged 38, was
appointed as an executive director on 17 March 2015 and re-elected
on 3 August 2015, and a director of nine subsidiaries within the
Group. He has been a business manager of Guangzhou YBDS IT
Co., Ltd.* (BMNBEEHEEERRERAR]), an indirectly wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, since May 2014. He has over 15 years
of working experience in the telecommunications industry in China.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wang Xiaoqi was the deputy general
manager of Hua Strong Network Science and Technology Limited
Company* (ZEXFLHEEHEBR A7) and Beijing Huagin World
Technology Limited Company* (it REH) KB FR A 7)), both of
which are indirect subsidiary of the Company, from 2000 to 2014. Mr.
Wang has resigned from both companies in April 2014. He obtained
a bachelor degree from Beijing University of Technology (b= T2
KE) in Computer Controls and Applications. As at the date of this
report, Mr. Wang is interested in 382,000 ordinary shares of the
Company, representing approximately 0.028% of the total number of
ordinary shares of the Company. Saved as disclosed above, Mr. Wang
Xiaogi does not have any interest in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO").
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang does not hold any positions
in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any
directorships in any public companies the securities of which are listed
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang is not connected with any
Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Lam Chi Man (#&3Z) (“Mr. C.M. Lam”), aged 51, obtained a
bachelor's degree in Business Administration and a master’'s degree
in Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in 1990 and 1999 respectively. Mr. C.M. Lam has more than
20 years' experience in business management and marketing for
various companies with wide range of businesses, including banking
services, printing house, toys manufacturing, and gift design and
production. Mr. C.M. Lam was an executive director of China Billion
Resources Limited, a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 274), from 28 March 2013 and was vacated
from holding the position of executive director on 17 October 2013,
as China Billion Resources Limited alleged that he had not attended
any board meetings for more than six consecutive months. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. C.M. Lam does not hold any positions in the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorships
in any public companies the securities of which are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.
Save as disclosed above, Mr. C.M. Lam is not connected with any
Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Ho Yeung ({a[7¥£%4) (“Mr. Y. Ho"), aged 62, since 1999, has
been a senior executive at a leading high-tech software company in
China and has held the post of executive director of a renowned real
estate company in China for more than ten years. Since 1994, Mr.
Y. Ho has been on the board of members of the council at the China
Association for the Promotion of Investment. There is no service
contract between the Company and Mr. Y. Ho but he is entitled to
a director’'s fee as may be approved by the Board of the Company
with reference to his roles and responsibilities and the prevailing
market conditions. Currently, Mr. Y. Ho, was as an independent
non-executive director of China Gas Holdings Limited, a company
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code:
384), from 12 December 2012. As at the date of this report, Mr. Y.
Ho is interested in 43,701,500 ordinary shares of the Company,
representing approximately 3.22% of the total number of ordinary
shares of the Company. Saved as disclosed above, Mr. Y. Ho does not
have any interest in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO"). Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Y. Ho does not hold any positions in the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorships in any
public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Y. Ho is not connected with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of
the Company.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lam Wing Keung (#t7k38) (“Mr. W.K. Lam”), aged 45, obtained
a bachelor’s degree in Accountancy from Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 1993 and a master's degree in Economics from Hong
Kong University of Science & Technology in 1998. Mr. W.K. Lam has
been licensed by the SFC to engage in type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities under the SFO since May 2011. He has been a
Fellow Member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
in the UK since 2001 and a Fellow Member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants since 2004. Mr. W.K. Lam is also
currently a full member of Hong Kong Securities Institute. Mr. W.K.
Lam has more than 20 years’ experience in accounting, financial
management and corporate finance for various companies with wide
range of businesses, including auditing, asset management, hedge
funds, brokerage, private equity and restructuring. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. W.K. Lam does not hold any positions in the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorships in any public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities market
in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. W.K. Lam is not connected with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of
the Company. Mr. Lam does not have any interests in the shares of
the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Gao Ping (5F) (“Mr. Gao”), aged 53, graduated from the
Department of Command of Anti-chemical Engineering College of
the Headquarter* (4220t T2 1518 K) in 1982. Mr. Gao has
more than 24 years’ experience in business management in various
private companies in the People’s Republic of China, mainly engaged
in light industrial and international trading businesses. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Gao does not hold any positions in the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorships in any
public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Gao is not connected with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of
the Company. Mr. Gao does not have any interests in the shares of
the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony (B F& 5% 4) (“Mr. Tse”), aged 47, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 15 May 2014
and re-elected on 23 June 2014. He holds a Bachelor of Science
degree with honors in Finance and Accounting from University
of Salford, United Kingdom and a degree in Executive Master of
Business Administration from Richard Ivey School of Business, The
University of Western Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tse is a member of each
of Illinois Certified Public Accountants Society, American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, Institute of Accountants Exchange, Hong
Kong Securities and Investment Institute and Hong Kong Securities
Professionals Association. Mr. Tse is also an associate member of
The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants of the United
Kingdom and Hong Kong Institute of Certificate Public Accountants.
Mr. Tse has over 18 years of experience in corporate finance and
accounting and has worked for several international accounting firms,
investment banks and the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tse is currently
a managing director of corporate finance department in Essence
Corporate Finance (Hong Kong) Limited and acts as its principal under
the sponsor regime. Mr. Tse was a non-executive director of China Qil
Gangran Energy Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Fairson
Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 8132) from 10 January 2014 to 30
April 2015. Mr. Tse is currently a non-executive director of Millennium
Pacific Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8147). Mr. Tse is a
responsible officer licensed under the SFO to carry on Type 1 (dealing
in securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activities.

Mr. Tse does not have any interests in the shares of the Company
within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed above,
Mr. Tse does not hold any positions in the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorships in any public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Tse is not connected with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of
the Company.
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Mr. Lau Chor Ki (#123) (“Mr. Lau”), age 64, has holds a diploma
in Management from Hong Kong Polytechnic (awarded jointly by the
Hong Kong Management Association), a certificate programme on
writing precisely what you mean from the Hong Kong Management
Association, a certificate of Practice in Chinese Property Laws —
a distance learning certificate programme from the Hong Kong
Management Association. Mr. Lau joined in Hang Seng Bank
group (stock code: 00011) and had served in the group for 40 years
from 1973 to 2013. During this period, Mr. Lau worked in various
department including retail banking, loans department, credit control
and administration. Also, he was a department head monitoring
the central cash of the bank when retired in May 2013. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Lau does not hold any positions in the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorships in any
public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Lau is not connected with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of
the Company. Mr. Lau does not have any interests in the shares of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

*  For identification only.
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Report of the Directors

0l

The Directors submit herewith the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENT ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS REVIEW
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out
in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group focused to
strengthen its business development in the area of trading of high-tech
software and hardware equipment; develop and establish payment
platforms to provide mobile payment services and value-added
services; and set up joint ventures with multinational companies to
introduce and procure mobile application services, among others.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’'s
principal activities during the year.

An analysis of the Group's revenue and operating segments for the
year under review is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622),
including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future developments in the Group's
business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis
set out on pages 8 to 15 of this Annual Report. This discussion forms
part of this Directors’ Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 66.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2017.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements
and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 59. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

J(

EXENREARERE_T—+tF=
A=1T—BLEEZFHELEZRE
MBwE -

TEXE &8
BHE
ARRZEBEBRREER - HEBA
Al EBXHREMERERIINEGRA M
BRI ©

BeaBomk®

REBEE-_FT—tF=ZA=+—HL*HF
B AEEFEINNREE SRR
R RBZEBRREE  FAERE
SN T B R4 T S AR DA R (B
R - REBEBRARKIAERE A
(P EHE) sl ARKEFRERER

B% - FR AEETEEHIMEY
BEAED -

AEEROBEFEREREEN R 2D
e iR & MBS MAR MRS o

BEBRAEDI(F6228 ) HREFTRTE
BRAZEXBNE-—FTREDIN - 8
EAEBASERERN T ERR N HH
BESREIVISEN SEE SV 0B el
BRIPA > FRAFHESE15EHEIE
B mEDHT - ZdmEBRAEES
HEN B -

FEERE
AEEBE—_T—tF=A=+—H1It
FREZEEHNFEOCR 2R BR N
b2 E R

+F

H

o

EETERRBEEE_—_T—
=t BHLEFEZRHRE

MBERBE
BEREREAVBRRAFLEES
5'/@%&"*EZZISEI15££TIHM&$
FEENEHZENANREE  BELRIFER
BRI EHNELIE - ZBMELTHE
RSB IZ AR B MG RER—#BD ©

EXEBARAR | ZE—tFERE 49



Report of the Directors

30 W

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of the Company's share capital and share options are set out in
notes 22 and 23 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 71 and note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2017, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company's
reserve available for distribution to shareholders (comprising share
premium) amounted to approximately HK$101,852,000.

RELATIONSHIP OF STAKEHOLDERS

To the best knowledge of the Group, employees, customers and
business partners are the key to continuous sustainable development.
We commit to be people-oriented and build up good relationship with
employees, and work together with our business partners to provide
high quality products and services to achieve the goal of sustainable
development and contribution to the society.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group paid close attention to environmental protection and energy
conservation to enhance the capacity of sustainable development and
undertake relative social responsibility.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAW AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied with all related laws and regulations in all material aspects
which may have significant impact on the operation of the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed shares during the year ended
31 March 2017.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted on 1 August 2011 by the
shareholders of the Company under which the executive Directors
may, at their discretion, grant options to themselves and any
employees of the Group entitling them to subscribe for shares
representing up to a maximum of 10 per cent of the shares in the
Company in issue from time to time. The purpose of the share option
scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to participants as
incentives and rewards for their contribution to the Company or its
subsidiaries.

No options were granted under the share option scheme since
its adoption by the Company or outstanding, lapsed, cancelled or
exercised at any time during the year ended 31 March 2017.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Yau Hoi Kin

(Resigned on 26 January 2017)
Mr. Wang Xiaoqi
Mr. Lam Chi Man

(Appointed on 12 January 2017)
Mr. Ho Yeung

(Appointed on 1 June 2017)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Hsu Chia-Chun
(Retired on 24 August 2016)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Dr. Chow Ka Ming, Jimmy

(Retired on 30 January 2017)
Mr. Gao Ping

(Appointed on 12 January 2017)
Mr. Lam Wing Keung

(Appointed on 12 January 2017)
Mr. Ngan Yu Loong

(Resigned on 12 January 2017)
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony
Dr. Wong Wing Lit

(Retired on 17 February 2017)
Mr. Lau Chor Ki

(Appointed on 1 June 2017)
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Mr. Yau Hoi Kin (“Mr. Yau”) has resigned as an executive Director
with effect from 26 January 2017, due to his wish to devote more
time on his other personal endeavours. Mr. Yau has confirmed that
he does not have any disagreement with the Board and that there is
no matter relating to his resignation which needs to be brought to the
attention of the shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Hsu Chia-Chun (“Mr. Hsu") has retired as a non-executive Director
upon expiration of his service contract with effect from 24 August
2016. Mr. Hsu has confirmed that he does not have any disagreement
with the Board and that there is no matter relating to his retirement
which needs to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the
Company.

Mr. Ngan Yu Loong (“Mr. Ngan”) has resigned as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company (the “Audit Committee”) and the nomination committee
of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”), and a member of
the remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee"”) with effect from 12 January 2017, due to his wish to
devote more time on his other personal endeavours. Mr. Ngan has
confirmed that he does not have any disagreement with the Board and
that there is no matter relating to his resignation which needs to be
brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company.

Dr. Chow Ka Ming, Jimmy (“Dr. Chow") has retired as an
independent non-executive Director upon expiration of his letter of
appointment with effect from 30 January 2017 and Dr. Wong Wing Lit
("Dr. Wong") has retired as an independent non-executive Director
upon expiration of his letter of appointment with effect from 17
February 2017. Dr. Chow and Dr. Wong have confirmed that they do
not have any disagreement with the Board and that there is no matter
relating to their respective resignation and retirement which needs to
be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company.

Pursuant to code provision of A4.2 of the Corporate Governance Code
of the Listing Rules and Article 83 and 84 of the articles of association
of the Company, Mr. Wang Xiaogi, Mr. Lam Chi Man, Mr. Ho Yeung,
Mr. Lam Wing Keung, Mr. Gao Ping and Mr. Lam Chor Ki shall retire at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Mr. Wang Xiaogi, Mr. Lam Chi Man, Mr. Ho Yeung, Mr. Lam Wing
Keung, Mr. Gao Ping and Mr. Lam Chor Ki being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the articles of association of the Company,
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony (“Mr. Tse") shall retire from office by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Mr. Tse has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company with a term of two years
commencing 16 May 2017. Mr. Tse, being eligible, offers himself for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY’S SUBSIDIARIES
During the year and up to the date of this report, Mr. Wang Xiaoqi
is directors of the Company’s subsidiaries. Other directors of the
Company’s subsidiaries during the year and up to the date of this
report were as follows:

Mr. Li Kwan Shing

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at the date of this report, the Company has entered into a letter
of appointment with each of the current independent non-executive
Directors, namely, (a) Mr. Gao Ping for a term of three years
commencing from 12 January 2017, (b) Mr. Lam Wing Keung for a
term of three years commencing from 12 January 2017, and (c) Mr. Tse
Yee Hin, Tony for a term of two years commencing from 16 May 2017
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with
the Company’s articles of association.

The Company has entered into a service agreement with Mr. Lam
Chi Man for a term of three years commencing from his date of
appointment on 12 January 2017. The remuneration of Mr. Lam Chi
Man is determined with reference to his qualifications, experience
and duties and responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market
conditions.

Mr. Wang Xiaogi presently do not have a fixed term of service with
the Company but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with
the articles of association of the Company. The remuneration of Mr.
Wang Xiaoqi will be determined with reference to his qualifications,
experience and duties and responsibilities in the Group and prevailing
market conditions.

Mr. Ho Yeung has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of 3 years commencing on 1 June 2017; Mr. Lau Chor Ki
has entered to a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
3 years commencing 1 June 2017.

Both Mr. Ho Yeung and Mr. Lau Chor Ki are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the next following annual general meeting
of the Company in accordance with Articles 83 and 84 of the articles
of association of the Company. The service contract and the letter of
appointment can be terminated by either party by giving one month’s
notice in writing.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 44 to 48.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration is determined by the Remuneration
Committee with reference to their relevant qualifications, experience
and duties and responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market
conditions.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in November 2005 and
the Company had adopted a revised specific terms of reference as of
2 December 2013 in accordance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM
Listing Rules and the requirements set out under Code Provision.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee comprised Mr. Lam
Wing Keung, Mr. Gao Ping, Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony and Mr. Lau Chor
Ki, all of whom are independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Lam
Wing Keung is the current chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which any
of the Company’s holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party and in which a director of the Company or a connected
entity of the director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, at no time during the
year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OR
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2017, Mr. Wang Xiaoqi is interested in 382,000
ordinary shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.028%
of the total number of ordinary shares of the Company. Mr. Ho
Yeung is interested in 43,701,500 ordinary shares of the Company,
representing approximately 3.22% of the total number of ordinary
shares of the Company. Saved as disclosed above, none of the other
Directors or their respective associates and the chief executive of
the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the minimum standards of dealing by directors of the Company as
referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OR UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2017, so far as the Directors are aware of and
having made due enquires, the following persons had an interest or
short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO and/or were directly or indirectly interested
in 5% or more of the issued share capital carrying rights to vote in
all circumstances at general meetings of any other members of the
Group:
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Notes:

1. As Mr. Chan is the ultimate beneficial owner and the sole director of Happy On, by
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chan is deemed to be interested in the 987,888,771 shares held
by Happy On.

2. “L" means long positions in the shares.

3. Based on 1,356,250,000 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2017.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the largest and the five largest
suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 43% and 100% of
the Group's total purchases respectively. Sales to the largest and the
five largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately 38%
and 98% of the Group's total sales respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest suppliers and customers.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year ended 31 March 2017, none of the Directors or
substantial shareholders or their respective associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company had an interest in a business
which competed with or might compete with the business of the
Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
a sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total issued share
capital of the Company as required under the GEM Listing Rules
throughout the financial period under review.

Following the appointment of Mr. Ho Yeung on 1 June 2017 as
executive Director to the Company, the public float of the Company
fell under 25% and the minimum public float requirement under Rule
11.23(7) of the GEM Listing Rules was not satisfied.
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The shortfall was due to the inadvertent oversight of the total
percentage of shareholding held by Mr. Ho Yeung and Mr. Wang
Xiaogi who are connected persons shareholder (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) and Happy On Holdings Limited which is a controlling
shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company.

Since Mr. Ho Yeung and Mr. Wang Xiaoqgi are Directors of the
Company, the dealing restrictions under Rule 5.56(a) as contained in
the GEM Listing Rules which restricts dealings in securities of the
Company by the Directors during the period of 60 days immediately
preceding the publication date of the annual results of the Company,
i.e. 16 June 2017 would be applicable to both Mr. Ho Yeung and Mr.
Wang Xiaogi. Accordingly, Mr. Ho Yeung and Mr. Wang Xiaogi would
be restricted from disposing of the Shares held by each of him during
the aforementioned blackout period commencing 12 April 2017 and
ending on 16 June 2017.

Mr. Ho Yeung had indicated his willingness to sell a portion of his
shareholdings to maintain the public float to the statutory requirement,
and he is currently taking measures to dispose of his shares at the
earliest opportunity after 16 June 2017.

The Company will take measures to prevent similar incident from
occurring in the future by taking active steps to observe the public
float requirement from time to time.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
At no time during the year and up to the date of this report, there was
or is any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit
of any Directors (whether made by the Company or otherwise) or of
its associated company (made by the Company).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in May 2000, and the Company
had adopted a revised specific terms of reference as of 11 November
2016 in accordance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.

At present, the Audit Committee comprised of Mr. Lam Wing Keung,
Mr. Gao Ping, Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony and Mr. Lau Chor Ki, all of whom
are independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Lam Wing Keung is the
current chairman of the Audit Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the corporate governance report on pages 16 to 38 of this
annual report.

AUDITORS

The financial statements of the Company for the years ended 31
March 2015 and 2016 were audited by Grant Thornton Hong Kong
Limited. During the year, Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited has
resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 14 February
2017 as auditors of the Company and McMillan Woods SG CPA
Limited was appointed as the Company's auditors to fill the casual
vacancy. For the year ended 31 March 2017, the financial statements
of the Company have been audited by McMillan Woods SG CPA
Limited whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual
general meeting. A resolution to re-appoint McMillan Woods SG
CPA Limited as auditors of the Company will be proposed to the
shareholders of the Company for approval at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Lam Chi Man
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 16 June 2017
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Summary Financial Information

W 5 OB

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and AEEEE T EAMKEE 2B AMEE
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as LA RBE - BE R IFEEEZS (iR E K

extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out below: ERIEHRER) ZBENT
FINANCIAL SUMMARY BEEE
For the year ended 31 March 2017 HE-_T—+F=A=+—HLFE
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
“EB—+tF | T F —T—HF —T-NFE —T—=F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FBTT FHBTT FETT
(restated)
(/=&7))
RESULTS E4
Revenue gy 28,561 316,706 163,853 36,572 53,729
Loss before income tax bR FT1S T A& 18 (66,287) (1,558) (1,500) (10,419) (11,865)
Income tax expense FrS iR~ (251) (3,482) (686) (8) (31)
Loss for the year from continuing £ A R FF B 48 &
operations ERELZER (66,538) (5,040) (2,186) (10,427) (11,896)
Discontinued operations, BRI
net of tax Biii& 27 (965) - - -
Loss for the year FNEE (66,511) (6,005) (2,186) (10,427 (11,896)
Attributable to: AR AL -
Owners of the Company VIN/NETE 2SN (39,606) (4,253) (2,819) (10,481) (11,860
Non-controlling interests JEIE IR RE RS (26,905) (1,752) 633 54 (36)
(66,511) (6,005) (2,186) (10,427) (11,896)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ~ &ERAMH
Total assets BEE 193,633 398,345 453,708 131,505 61,206
Total liabilities BEE (133,023) (267,556) (313,043) (8,870) (29,730)
60,610 130,789 140,665 122,635 31,476
Attributable to: AR AL RELS
Owners of the Company ZIN/NIE =N 69,699 112,629 119,864 122,448 31,343
Non-controlling interests FEPE RS RERS (9,089) 18,160 20,801 187 133
60,610 130,789 140,665 122,635 31,476
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Independent Auditors’ Report
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To the shareholders of Yunbo Digital Synergy Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yunbo
Digital Synergy Group Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group"”) set
out on pages 66 to 141, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2017, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statements of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flows
statement for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, A==+ =18 2B 15 B FI A = 2 2 H -
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial RA¥KNEGEVEHRERANBSRAEE
statements of the current period.

Independent Auditors’ Report
T S B S

FEETEE

EH)EH o

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the ELt=IE 2R IR EEL A B
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our XREESRRBETRIEN - HT=
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these  ¥iEtHFRMHEBEFBOEZ R,

matters.

No. Key Audit Matter
BRENSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ES NN EEBEETEE

1

1

Revenue recognition
We identified the revenue recognition as a key audit matter

due to the significance of the revenue to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Uy 757 5
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Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition included:

(i) Obtaining an understanding of the revenue business
process;

(i) Checking a selection of sales transactions to the
corresponding delivery documents to assess the
appropriateness of revenue recognition; and

(iii)  Performing analytical review procedures on the monthly
sales amounts with reference to the gross profit margin
to identify any unusual fluctuations, and obtaining and
assessing management'’s explanations for such fluctuations.

We found that revenues have been fairly stated in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the Other
Information. The Other Information comprises all the information
in the Group’s annual report (other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon) (“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Governance
for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that
we have communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Seto Man Fai.

McMillan Woods SG CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Seto Man Fai
Practising Certificate Number: P05229

Hong Kong 16 June 2017
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
B 7 AL A B U A 2 v A AR

For the year ended 31 March 2017 &2 =T —+tF=fA=+—HItFE

2017 2016
—E—+tF  —FT—RF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BaE FE T FBTT
(restated)
(#e&75)
Revenue =3 5 28,561 316,706
Cost of sales and services HE R RFSA A (22,274) (272,286)
Gross profit ER 6,287 44,420
Other income HA U A 6 3,791 2,467
Distribution costs P EER A (11,107) (20,965)
Administrative expenses T (30,266) (27,358)
Impairment of intangible asset B EERE (692) -
Provision of bad debts EEREE (2,464) -
Impairment loss on other receivables Hofth e W IB R (B & 18 (3,991) (122)
Allowance for obsolete and PREE R B IETF B R
slow-moving inventories (24,293) -
Impairment of goodwill HERE (3,552) -
Loss before income tax BRETEHAIER 7 (66,287) (1,558)
Income tax expense FrS R 8 (251) (3,482)
Loss for the year from FRBESEELER
continuing operations (66,538) (5,040)
Discontinued operations, net of tax B4 L R (MBRTE) 10 21 (965)
Loss for the year FREE (66,511) (6,005)
Loss for the year attributable to: UTATEEFRER :
Owners of the Company KABHERA (39,606) (4,253)
Non-controlling interests RIS RS (26,905) (1,752)
(66,511) (6,005)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to HTIEEZARDTEEA
owners of the Company arises from FEAEFE R (E5E), 55
Continuing operations B IR AT (39,625) (3,553)
Discontinued operations BRI E TS 19 (700)
(39,606) (4,253)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
fs A T A B I b 4 v g 36

For the year ended 31 March 2017 &2 =T —tF =B =+—HItFE

2017 2016
—BtHF | ZTRF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE FET THET
(restated)
(&=5)
Loss per share attributable to KAREEAEEEREER
the owners of the Company
Basic loss per share: (HK cents) BREXREE - (BW)
From continuing operations BB EEBEE 11 (2.92) (0.26)
From discontinued operations AR IHEEEBES 11 = (0.05)
From loss of the year HEABEEL 1 (2.92) (0.31)
Diluted loss per share: (HK cents) SREEER - (GBW)
From continuing operations HIFECEEREE 11 (2.92) (0.26)
From discontinued operations HERIEKEEBEE 11 - (0.05)
From loss of the year HEREEEE 1" (2.92) (0.31)
Loss for the year FRER (66,511) (6,005)
Other comprehensive expense Hitt2HEBAX
Exchange differences arising on translation of HgBEH T BEBR L
foreign operations that will be reclassified MEBINETREE Y
subsequently to profit or loss bE W =5 (3,841) (3,871)
Other comprehensive expense for FREMZEMX (NREIE)
the year, net of tax (3,841) (3,871)
Total comprehensive expense for the year SR ERXAH (70,352) (9,876)
Total comprehensive expense UTATEEFRZEBX
for the year attributable to: R
Owners of the Company ZAN/NGIEZ SN (42,930) (7,235)
Non-controlling interests FEFEAR (27,422) (2,641)
(70,352) (9,876)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for H TFH|ELEZRATEEA
the period attributable to owners of PR 2mE (),
the Company arises from B
Continuing operations BB ER (42,949) (6,535)
Discontinued operations BERIEEEER 19 (700)
(42,930) (7,235)

The notes on page 72 to 141 are an integral part of these consolidated 57221418 2 MisHBA It H45 4 BI5H
financial statements. RZHEPES o
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B B R DL Ak

As at 31 March 2017 R=ZE—+F=A=+—H

2017 2016
—B—tHF | ZT—RX
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B &E TERT FHT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - R MR 13 2,383 2,594
Intangible assets BmILEE 14 394 1,134
Goodwill EES 15 - 3,552
2,777 7,280
Current assets REBEE
Inventories e 17 - 32,617
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E A e GRIA 18 20,444 161,812
Financial assets designated at fair EEERATHEF B
value through profit or loss TREE 19 40,590 46,882
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSEEY 20 124,897 149,754
Restricted cash XBRHIRE 4,925 -
190,856 391,065
Current liabilities i I=Ri
Trade and other payables B REMERTRIA 21 131,693 266,386
Tax payable eI 1,330 1,170
133,023 267,556
Net current assets REBEERE 57,833 123,509
Total assets less current liabilities BMEERRBDER 60,610 130,789
Net assets EEFE 60,610 130,789
Equity s
Equity attributable to the owners RATEE AELER
of the Company
Share capital %N 22 135,625 135,625
Reserves B 25 (65,926) (22,996)
69,699 112,629
Non-controlling interests FERER (9,089) 18,160
Total equity ERAEE 60,610 130,789
Lam Chi Man Wang Xiaogqi
MEX TR
Director Director
EF EF

The notes on page 72 to 141 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

5 Bl 4 i B R

For the year ended 31 March 2017 A& ZE —ZT—+tF=A=+—HItFE

2017 2016
2t | ZT—RF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B eE FTEx FAT
(restated)
(#2%))
Cash flows from operating activities REKETH2RERE
Loss before income tax BRETISTIRIEE
From continuing operations MIFERE XK (66,287) (1,558)
From discontinued operations HER LXK 2] (965)
(66,260) (2,523)
Adjustments for: RTINS IERE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BENERETE 1,034 925
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHE 1 2
Loss on disposal of intangible assets HERPEENER 18 -
Bank interest income RITHEUA (908) (433)
Interest income from financial assets designated REEERAHETABRZ
at fair value through profit or loss TREEZMEWA (1.17) (1,844)
Impairment loss on other receivables H i e RE 2 B R 3,991 122
Provision of bad debts AR 2,464 -
Impairment on intangible assets BVEERE 692 -
Allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventories ~ PREE R s s H) 17 SR E 24,293 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR MKE (746) -
Impairment on goodwill EESGRE 3,552 -
Operating loss before working capital changes LEECHEF LERE (33,586) (3,751)
Decrease/[increase) in inventories FERD /() 8,324 (4,794)
Increase in restricted cash X HIIRBE 0 (5,039) -
Decrease in trade and B 5 R H A UGB R A
other receivables 121,232 84,462
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 REMBERNFIERDY (126,405) (40,213)
Cash generated (used in)/from operations e (gl) /MEsRe (29,474) 35,704
Income tax paid ERETEH (1,628) (3,289)
Income tax refund REIFREH 1,615 -
Net cash (used in)/from LT (EH)
operating activities EEZH T FE (29,487) 32,415

EREXEEERAAF
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

5 Bl 4 i B R

For the year ended 31 March 2017 REZ=Z

—tF=A=+—RLFE

2017 2016
2t | ZT—RF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B eE FTEx TAT
(restated)
(#2%))
Cash flows from investing activities RERETHZEHERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BEESE (969) (68)
Addition to intangible assets NEEBFEE = (10)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR (266)
Purchases of financial assets designated at fairvalue B B 18 F I A FEFTABRZ
through profit or loss SREE (488,507) (604,651)
Proceeds from redemption of financial assets BOETEATEFABRZ
designated at fair value through profit or loss SREEMSHE 491,968 593,832
Interest received EUF R 2,625 2,277
Net cash from/[used in) BRETHMEL,
investing activities (BR) 2R %38 4,851 (8,620)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERBLEBYRD),/
cash equivalents babiipect-c] (24,636) 23,795
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year EAE%}JZEEi NIESEEY 149,754 133,046
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes, EREHHMFRE I FE
on cash held (221) (7,087)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year, REAHERBTEERREEZ
represented by cash at banks and in hand RERBEZEY 20 124,897 149,754

The notes on page 72 to 141 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2017 &2 =T —tF =B =+—HItFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

ARRHEAER
Non-
Share Share Warrant ~ Translation Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
B2 2R
Ra  ROEE BERE RARGE ZHER it BE ERAE
HK§ 000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK§ 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000
TAL TAL Tir TAL TEL i TAL TAL
Asat 1 April 2015 RZZ-1FNA-H 135625 99935 900 605 (117.201) 119,864 20801 140,665
Comprehensive expense 2EAX
Loss fo the year EnER - - - - (4,253 (4.253) (1,752) (6,00)
Other comprehensive expense ~ Ef2EER
Fxchange diferences arising on HEBINEBEL,
translation of foreign operations ERES - - - (2982) - 2.982) (889) (3871)
Total comprehensive expense ~ FRE2EMY
for the year agm - - - (2,982) (4,253 7239) (2641) (9.876)
As at 31 March 2016 and RIE—F
1 April 2016 ZAZT-Bk
“T—EMA-H 135,625 99,935 900 (23m) (121,454) 112629 18,160 130,789
Comprehensive expense 2ABX
Loss for the year EnER - - - - (39,606) (39,606) (26,905) (66,511)
Other comprehensive expense ~ Eft 2B
Exchange differences arising on BEBNEBELL
translation of foreign operations ERER - - - (3.324) - (3,324) (517) (3.841)
Total comprehensive expense ~ ERZARX
for the year an - - - (3.324) (39,606) (42930) (27422) (70,352)
Transaction with owners REBAZRS . _ _ _ - - - _
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR _ - - - - - 1] m
Total transaction with owners ~ BREAAZ R HAE - - - - - - m m
As at 31 March 2017 RZE-tF
ZB=t-H 135,625 99,935 900 (5701) (161,060} 69,699 (9,089) 60,610
The notes on page 72 to 141 are an integral part of these consolidated ~ 572E 1418 2 MsEB It 47 8 B 53R

financial statements.

RZEPED -

il
e
i
HE
b

REARAR

TR EERE 71



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fas  J B  WiE k

For the year ended 31 March 2017 &2 =T —+tF=fA=+—HItFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Yunbo Digital Synergy Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 8 May 2000 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands. The Company'’s registered office is situated at Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands. The Company’s principal place of business is situated
at Room 1001, 10th Floor, 23 Hillwood Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

The Company's shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market
("GEM") of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange"”). The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the provision of system
integration services and other value-added technical consultation
services and hardware-related business. The Group has also expanded
into the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") market in the areas of
manufacturing of ancillary high-tech software and hardware products;
developing and establishing integrated online platforms for distribution
of mobile products and provision of value-added services; and setting
up joint ventures with multinational companies to introduce and
procure mobile application services, among other things.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the parent and ultimate
holding company of the Company is Happy On Holdings Limited
("Happy On"), which was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2017 were approved for issue by the board of directors on 16 June
2017.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 5 W 0 R WY ik

For the year ended 31 March 2017 B2 =T —+F=A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Basis of preparation

These annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”).

The amendments to the GEM Listing Rules with reference to the
requirements of Part 9 “Accounts and Audit” of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) came into effect for the first
time during the current financial year and the main impact is on
the presentation and disclosure of certain information in these
consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies that have been used in preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are summarised below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented
unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new or amended HKFRSs
and the impacts on the Group's consolidated financial statements, if
any, are disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost basis except for financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss. The measurement basis is fully described in the
accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are
used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Although
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and
judgement of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately
differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statement, are disclosed in
note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& A W B W R Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2017 2 =T —+tF=fA=+—HItFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31 March

each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group
has power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.

Subsidiaries are consolidated into the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the date that
control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on
transactions between group companies are eliminated in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Where unrealised losses on intra-
group asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is
also tested for impairment from the Group's perspective.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect of
which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders
of those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having
a contractual obligation in respect of those interests that meets the
definition of a financial liability. For each business combination, the
Group can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. The Group applies the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognized amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets to account for all its acquisitions.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position within equity, separately from the equity
attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in
the results of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 5 W 0 R WY ik

For the year ended 31 March 2017 B2 =T —+F=A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not result in
a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change
in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interests. The fair value of any investment retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, subsidiaries are
carried at cost less any impairment losses unless the subsidiary
is held for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost is adjusted to
reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent consideration
amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable at the
reporting date. All dividends whether received out of the investee’s
pre or post-acquisition profits are recognised in the Company's profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& A W B W R Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2017 &2 T —+F=A=+—HItFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.3 Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum
of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’'s previously held equity
in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If, after
assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value on the acquirer’s previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately
in profit or loss as bargain purchase gain.

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and considered as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively,
with the corresponding adjustments being made against goodwill
or gain on bargain purchase. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the
measurement period about facts and circumstances that existed as of
the acquisition date. Measurement period does not exceed one year
from the acquisition date. The subsequent accounting for changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2017 HE=2%

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.3 Business combinations (Continued)

Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured
at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified
as a financial liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates at
fair value with corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity interest recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity before
the acquisition date are reclassified to profit or loss when the Group
obtains control over the acquiree.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

2.4 Foreign currency translation
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
Dollars (HK$), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. At the reporting date, monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the reporting date retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& A W B W R Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2017 2 =T —+tF=fA=+—HItFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a currency
different from the Group's presentation currency, have been
converted into Hong Kong dollars. Assets and liabilities have been
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing rates at the reporting
date. Income and expenses have been converted into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at the
average rates over the reporting period provided that the exchange
rates do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from this
procedure have been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in the translation reserve in equity.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, loss of
joint control over a joint venture that includes a foreign operation, or
loss of significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the accumulated exchange differences in respect
of that operation attributable to the Group are reclassified to profit or
loss. Any exchange differences that have previously been attributed
to non-controlling interests are derecognised, but they are not
reclassified to profit or loss.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the asset. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of
the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’'s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
costs, such as repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2017 HE=2%

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated using straight-line method to allocate their

costs to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, at the

following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term

Plant and machinery 20-50%
Furniture and fixtures 20-25%
Office equipments 20%

The assets’ residual values, depreciation method and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

2.6 Goodwill
Set out below are the accounting policies on goodwill arising on
acquisition of a subsidiary.

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset
at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date). Goodwill
is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’'s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the Group's interest in
the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities
measured as at the acquisition date.

If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the
acquiree's identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’'s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is tested annually
for impairment (see note 2.16).

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of
goodwill capitalised is included in the determination of the amount of
gain or loss on disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& A W B W R Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2017 &2 T —+F=A=+—HItFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.7 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and research and
development activities
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful life is finite)
and impairment losses. Amortisation of intangible assets with finite
useful lives is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. The following intangible assets with
finite useful lives are amortised from the date they are available for use
and their estimated useful lives are as follows:
Capitalised development costs 5 years
Trademark 10 years
Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less
any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

The assets’ amortisation methods and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Intangible assets, with finite and indefinite useful lives, are tested for
impairment as described below in note 2.16.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2017 HE =%

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.
(Continued)
2.7 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and research and

development activities (Continued)
Research and development costs
Costs associated with research activities are expensed in profit or
loss as they occur. Costs that are directly attributable to development
activities are recognised as intangible assets provided they meet the
following recognition requirements:
(i) demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective product
for internal use or sale;
(i) there is intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell
it;
(i) the Group's ability to use or sell the intangible asset is
demonstrated;

(iv) the intangible asset will generate probable economic benefits
through internal use or sale;

(v)  sufficient technical, financial and other resources are available for
completion; and

(vi) the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset can be reliably

measured.

Direct costs include employee costs incurred on development
activities along with an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.
The costs of development of internally generated software, products
or knowhow that meet the above recognition criteria are recognised
as intangible assets. They are subject to the same subsequent
measurement method as acquired intangible assets.

All other development costs are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& A W B W R Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2017 &2 T —+F=A=+—HItFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.8 Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified as loans and receivables
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition
depending on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired
and where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at
every reporting date.

All financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Regular way purchases of financial assets are recognised on trade
date. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured
at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through
profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights to receive
cash flows from the investments expire or are transferred and
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred.

At each reporting date, financial assets are reviewed to assess
whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If any such
evidence exists, impairment loss is determined and recognised based
on the classification of the financial asset.

i) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Loans
and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. Amortised
cost is calculated taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate and transaction cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2017 HE=2%

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

ii)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include:

° Financial assets held for trading; and

° Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for the purpose of selling in the near term, or it is part of a portfolio
of identified financial instruments that are managed together and
for which there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit-
taking. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments or financial guarantee contracts.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives, the
entire hybrid contract may be designated as a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss, except where the embedded derivative
does not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear that
separation of the embedded derivative is prohibited.

Financial assets may be designated at initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss if the following criteria are met:

- the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the
inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise from
measuring the assets or recognising gains or losses on them on
a different basis; or

- the assets are part of a group of financial assets which are
managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with a documented risk management strategy
and information about the group of financial assets is provided
internally on that basis to the key management personnel; or

- the financial asset contains an embedded derivative that would
need to be separately recorded.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& A W B W R Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2017 &2 T —+F=A=+—HItFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

ii)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial assets included in

this category are measured at fair value with changes in fair value

recognised in profit or loss. Fair value is determined by reference

to active market transactions or using a valuation technique where

no active market exists. Fair value gain or loss does not include any

dividend or interest earned on these financial assets.

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date, financial assets other than financial assets
through profit or loss are reviewed to determine whether there is any
objective evidence of impairment.

Objective evidence of impairment of individual financial assets
includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Group
about one or more of the following loss events:

- Significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments;

- It becomes probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation;

- Significant changes in the technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor;

—  The disappearance of an active market for that financial assets
because of financial difficulties; and

— A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an
investment in an equity instrument below its cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2017 HE=2%

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Loss events in respect of a group of financial assets include

observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the

estimated future cash flows from the group of financial assets. Such

observable data includes but not limited to adverse changes in the

payment status of debtors in the group and, national or local economic

conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the group.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and
receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition). The amount of the loss
is recognised in profit or loss of the period in which the impairment
oCCurs.

If, in subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed to the extent that it does not result in a carrying
amount of the financial asset exceeding what the amortised cost
would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date
the impairment is reversed. The amount of the reversal is recognised
in profit or loss of the period in which the reversal occurs.

Impairment losses on financial assets other than trade and other
receivables that are stated at amortised cost are written off against
the corresponding assets directly. Where the recovery of trade
and other receivables is considered doubtful but not remote, the
impairment losses for doubtful receivables are recorded using an
allowance account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery of trade
and other receivables is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable
is written off against trade and other receivables directly and any
amounts held in the allowance account in respect of that receivable
are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged
to the allowance account are reversed against the allowance account.
Other changes in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& A W B W R Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2017 &2 T —+F=A=+—HItFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.9 Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is determined on a first in first out basis. Net realisable value is

the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the

estimated cost of completion and applicable selling expenses.

The Group reviews the condition of inventories at each reporting date,
and make allowance for inventories that identified as obsolete, slow-
moving or no longer recoverable. The Group carries out the inventory
review on a product-by-product basis and makes allowances by
reference to the latest market prices and current market conditions.

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, demand
deposits with banks and short term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value.

2.11 Financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables.
They are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. All interest related charges
are recognised in accordance with the Group's accounting policy for
borrowing costs (see note 2.18).

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2017 HE=2%

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.11 Financial liabilities (Continued)

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and
the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

2.12 Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions,
is or contains a lease if the Group determines that the arrangement
conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period
of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a
determination is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the
arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes the
legal form of a lease.

(i)  Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer to
the Group substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as being held under finance leases. Leases which do not
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
Group are classified as operating leases.

(ii) Operating lease charges as the lessee

Where the Group has the right to use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to profit or
loss on a straight line basis over the lease terms except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the time pattern of benefits
to be derived from the leased assets. Lease incentives received are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net
lease payments made. Contingent rental are charged to profit or loss
in the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& A W B W R Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2017 2 =T —+tF=fA=+—HItFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.13 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to
reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future uncertain events not wholly within the control of the
Group are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

2.14 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is determined
using the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares are
deducted from share premium (net of any related income tax benefit)
to the extent they are incremental costs directly attributable to the
equity transaction.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 B2 =T —+F=A=+—HILFE

2.
(Continued)

2.15 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or

receivable for the sale of goods, rendering of services and the use

by others of the Group's assets yielding interest, net of returns and

discounts. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will

flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be

measured reliably, revenue is recognised as follows:

(a) Revenue from the sale of enterprise software and hardware

products is recognised on the transfer of risks and rewards of

ownership, which generally coincides with the time when the

goods are delivered to customers and title has passed.

Maintenance and consultancy service income is recognised over
the life of the agreement on a straight-line basis. The unearned
portion of the maintenance service income received is stated
as deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method.

2.16 Impairment on non-financial assets
Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, investments in
subsidiaries and goodwill are subject to impairment testing.

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful life or those
not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually,
irrespective of whether there is any indication that they are impaired.
All other assets are tested for impairment whenever there are
indications that the asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& A W B W R Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2017 2 =T —+tF=fA=+—HItFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.16 Impairment on non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting
market conditions less cost of disposal, and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessment of time value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent from those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generate cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit). As a result, some assets are tested individually
for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level.
Goodwill in particular is allocated to those cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business
combination and represent the lowest level within the Group at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose and not
be larger than an operating segment.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which
goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the carrying
amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro
rata to the other assets in the cash generating unit, except that the
carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair
value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.
In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the
asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of
goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the case
even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had
the impairment been assessed only at the end of the financial year to
which the interim period relates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 B2 =T —+F=A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.17 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined

contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit plan
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap.485),
for all of its employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in the PRC
are required to participate in the central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as
employees render services during the year. The Group’'s obligations
under these plans are limited to the fixed percentage contributions
payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the
reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 2 =T —+tF=fA=+—HItFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.17 Employee benefits (Continued)

Share-based employee compensation

All share-based payment arrangements are recognised in the

consolidated financial statements. The Group operates equity-settled

share-based compensation plans for remuneration of its employees.

All employee services received in exchange for the grant of any share-
based compensation are measured at their fair values. These are
indirectly determined by reference to the equity instruments awarded.
Their value is appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of
any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales
growth targets).

All share-based compensation is recognised as an expense in profit or
loss over the vesting period if vesting conditions apply, or recognised
as an expense in full at the grant date when the equity instruments
granted vest immediately unless the compensation qualifies for
recognition as asset, with a corresponding increase in the share
option reserve in equity. If vesting conditions apply, the expense
is recognised over the vesting period, based on the best available
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. Non-
market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the
number of equity instrument that are expected to vest. Estimates are
subsequently revised, if there is any indication that the number of
equity instrument expected to vest differs from previous estimates.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium. After vesting date, when the vested share options are
later forfeited or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred to
retained profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2017 HE=2%

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.18 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income earned on the
temporary investment of the specific borrowings, for the acquisition,
construction or production of any qualifying asset are capitalised during
the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset
for its intended use. A qualifying asset is an asset which necessarily
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or
sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset
when expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are
being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale are being undertaken. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the activities necessary
to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
complete.

2.19 Accounting for income taxes
Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations
to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior
reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting date. They are
calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the
fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the
year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a
component of tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised
for all deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to be
carried forward as well as other unused tax credits, to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& A W B W R Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2017 &2 T —+F=A=+—HItFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
2.19 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the Company
is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not be reversed in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or the asset
realised, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in profit
or loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in equity if they
relate to items that are charged or credited to other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented net if, and
only if,

(a) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities net
if, and only if,

(@) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2017 HE=2%

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.20 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information reported
to the executive directors for their decisions about resources allocation
to the Group's business components and for their review of the
performance of those components. The business components in the
internal financial information reported to the executive directors are
determined following the Group’s major product and service lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable segments:

o Hardware: Sales of telecommunication and enterprise hardware
products

o Software: Sales of enterprise software products
° Services: Maintenance and consultancy service income

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of
the product and service lines requires different resources as well as
marketing approaches. All inter-segment transfers are carried out at
arm'’s length prices.

2.21 Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family is related to

the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)

has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or of the Group's parent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& A W B W R Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2017 &2 T —+F=A=+—HItFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.21 Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member).

both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family or a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 B2 =T —+F=A=+—HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
The HKICPA has issued a number of new HKFRSs and amendments
to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting period of
the Group and the Company. Of these, the following developments
are relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint

Operations

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 16 and Clarification of Acceptable Methods of

HKAS 38 Depreciation and Amortisation
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 Exception
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle

The adoption of the amendments to HKFRSs has no material impact
on how the financial performance and financial position for the current
and prior periods have been prepared and presented.

The Group had not applied any new standard or interpretation that is
not yet effective for current accounting period.

The following new standards, amendments and interpretations which
have been issued by the HKICPA and may be relevant to the Group
in future years but are not yet effective for the year ended 31 March
2017.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& A W B W R Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2017 &2 T —+F=A=+—HItFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs (Continued) 3. IRANTE] KIS T H BB IE

HZEEA @)
Effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2017: RZ-Z—+tH&NA—HERHEERFEH
BAEMR :
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments' EAMBREENES:  SRIA
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and EEMBREERE R  RERPEOANER
the related Amendments' EEIZHES
HKFRS 16 Leases” ERRBHREEAZGE HE
Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of BARREES R RZ S8R
Share-based Payment Transactions' FIRZEIR itE'
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with Ey S Yoy g Sartnyid: ey
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts’' BUE VBT RBRAOTEREENE
BERAEERTA'
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an ERMBRRL RS0  REEEEBENFN
HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?® REEEHE AENRIZANEELE
B2 BEA FAE
Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative* RS ENEH 2R REHE)
Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for ERQHENER HREREERELEE
Unrealised Losses* PHEN '
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 1 Eﬁ:?*)\i*ﬂ —Hskz &Rz FEHRMAE
o
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 2 E;\; —NWF—A—BszEmRBzFERMRE
X
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined. 3 PARFTE B HAsk 2 12 FAH) 2 BRI AR -
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. 4 E;\; T—tF— A B GARNTESRE
X

The above standards, amendments and interpretations, if they are  Fi#t#8| - BT R 2B (HEAEES
relevant to the Group, will be adopted in the annual periods listed. The & @ R REE BN - NEFEE
Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of  Ff{ F#i%ER| - BiIRBREZZE  #
the above standards, amendments and interpretations but is not yet EHAAMEETHESDHRNER 2 KL EE
in a position to ascertain their impact on its results of operations and  NREISAARESFE -

financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 5 W 0 R WY ik

For the year ended 31 March 2017 B2 =T —+F=A=+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on

historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below:

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group's management estimates the provision of impairment of
trade and other receivables (note 18) by assessing their recoverability.
Provisions are applied to trade and other receivables where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible and require the use of estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact
carrying value of trade and other receivables and impairment charge in
the period in which such estimate has been changed.

Allowance for inventories

The Group’s management reviews the condition of inventories (note
17) at each reporting date, and makes allowance for inventories that
are identified as obsolete, slow-moving or no longer recoverable or
suitable for use in production. The Group carries out the inventory
review on a product-by-product basis and makes allowances by
reference to the latest market prices and current market conditions.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill (note 15) has suffered any
impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note
2.16. The recoverable amounts of cash generating units have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
require the use of estimates about future cash flows and discount
rates. In the process of estimating expected future cash flows
management makes assumptions about future revenues and profits.
These assumptions relate to future events and circumstances. The
actual results may vary and may cause a material adjustment to the
carrying amount of goodwill within the next financial year. Determining
the appropriate discount rate involves estimating the appropriate
adjustment for market risk and for asset specific risk factors.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue once it has been determined that it
is probable the economic benefits will flow to the Group. The Group
estimates the likelihood of the recoverability of the consideration,
in particular for those contracts with progress payments being long
overdue or delayed progress billings.

EREXEEERAAF

4. EREFHET RHE

st RAET D ER B EL R R EMME R
SEE BRHBLEETRBR L
BRABZARARER AR -

AEB G ARKIEH AT RRR - B
BE - ALSHZEFEAELEER
EREREE -H T EAYRFREAZ
BEABERAEELEENAERRZ
R BRI N 3wt

B 5 Rk H R E

AEEEEEEBNZE S REMER
FIE(MEE18) 2 AT M BE S - fhEt %S
IR Z B ERRE - B EEREHNE
BB - BURASR B R LA E R A RIER
MU FEEAMG e /ESH LA
FEMWGRIRAH R B R - 1M TR HI B R K fh AT
A AEEEREANTEE S REM

BHRARES L

FERE
AEBERENS®EHPRBFEER
SL(MRE17) - S RERRRE - WHiHk
TEARESTHERAREEZFE
TR AREHZHEMETFE
wE - Y2 ERATHERKRRITHR
SHERRRAE -

fhET A ERE
AEBERBEHFT2.16FTl 2 T BRE
FRHARABE(ME15) B EEXEMRE
B -BREELBEM 2 AIREESETRE
EREEAETEETE - %FTEE
FEFAARKBRSRERFTREX « PIEE
ARFEHMASREZBRED - BEER
RAEW s OB FHERBRR - ZERRE
AREMRIBERAER -  BRERATETF
EEZR - BRI ERAHTETRFE
NEBZREABFLEARE - BEEA
BITR S R EHI5E R N EERER
BRERELSBEARZMET o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 2 =T —+tF=fA=+—HItFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

5. MERkIBEHR

2017 2016
—E—+tF  —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
(restated)
(&%)

Continuing operations BFEQEEKR

Revenue: W :

Hardware ks 20,539 311,693
Services AR 7% 8,022 5,013
28,561 316,706

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the executive directors that are used to make
operating decisions. Executive directors are considered as the chief
operating decision makers (“CODM").

The CODM review the Group's financial information from hardware,
software and services perspectives. The reportable segments are
classified in a manner consistent with the information reviewed by the
CODM. During the year ended 31 March 2017, software segment was
disposed at management’s decision and there are two segments (i.e.
hardware and service segments) as at 31 March 2017.

The CODM assess the performance of the operating segments based
on a measure of reportable segment profit/(loss). This measurement
basis excludes other income and unallocated expenses.

Segment assets mainly exclude assets that are managed on a
centralised basis. Segment liabilities mainly exclude liabilities that are
managed on a centralised basis.

In respect of geographical segment reporting, sales are based on the

countries in which customers are located, and non-current assets are
based on the countries where the assets are located.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 B2 =T —+F=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continved) 5. WmKE D EER @)
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2017 are as follows: HE-—ZE—+F=A=1+—HItFE 2

DERAEEWNT ¢

Hardware Services Unallocated Total

T R RAE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FER FET FET

Continuing operations BRECEER

Revenue from external customers ~ #AMNEFR FATS 2 WS 20,539 8,022 - 28,561
Reportable segment loss AR HEE (21.451) (5.978) (42,649) (70,078)

Bank interest income WITHBHA 908

Other income and gain on disposal ~ E- b A K H & Uz 2,883
Loss before income tax BRETSHAIERE (66,287)
Income tax expense (Note 8) PrisHiR 2 (PHEE8) (251)
Loss for the year FREE (66,538)

Depreciation of property, ME - BER

plant and equipment RETE 828 - 206 1,034

Amortisation of intangible assets ~ £EFZ A E 5 = = 1 1

Addition to non-current assets FERBEELR 913 - 56 969

Impairment loss on other receivables  ELfth FE WK IE R (B E5 18 3,991 - - 3,991
@ Unallocated expenses mainly include operating lease charges in respect of rented ~ * KOEASY T ZREARHERYEZ CETHER

premises and headquarter expenses, allowance expenses and impairment of goodwill. S RBBAL - BERAREERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 2 =T —+tF=fA=+—HItFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) WERDEER @)

5.
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2016 are as follows: &
7

MEHWT -

E-F-AFS=AS+-ALFEZ

Hardware Services Unallocated Total
e 7% RAEC BT
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEIT FHEIT FHIT FHEIT
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
(#==71)) (&==71)) (7&&E71) (7&&71)
Continuing operations BFEREEL
Revenue from external customers WM R FFTE 2 WS 311,692 5014 - 316,706
Reportable segment profit/(loss) A ERSRDAEEF],/ (E518) 12,785 (1,393) (15,417) (4,025)
Bank interest income RITH BUA 433
Other income HA 2,034
Loss before income tax BrFr{STHATES 1B (1,558)
Income tax expense (Note 8) Fi5 R 2 (f3E8) (3,482)
Loss for the year FAEE (5,040)
Depreciation of property, W% - BB R
plant and equipment BB TE 782 2 135 919
Amortisation of intangible assets i/ & EE i £ - - 2 2
Addition to non-current assets IERBEELR 34 - 19 53
Impairment loss on other receivables £t FE UL 7R IE R (B 6518 - 122 - 122

*

premises and headquarter expenses.

Unallocated expenses mainly include operating lease charges in respect of rented
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2017 are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
50 W B R Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2017 B2 =T —+F=A=+—HILFE

5.

W=k o EER e

R_TE—tF=A=+—HZ2REE

REEWT
Hardware Services Total
&4 R Foh
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET
Segment assets DIEEE 18,445 394 18,839
Unallocated assets* ROBLEE" 174,794
Total assets G E 193,633
Segment liabilities NEEE 100,823 4,000 104,823
Unallocated liabilities* KoaE: 28,200
Total liabilities waE 133,023
The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2016 are as follows: RZZE—RE=ZA=+—HBZHHEE
RBEWAT
Hardware Software Services Total
TB 5 ;i PR FEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FETT FBTT FBT
Segment assets NEEE 185,274 246 1,164 186,684
Unallocated assets* KOTEE" 211,661
Total assets BB E 398,345
Segment liabilities ok H=Ni 230,425 39 252 230,716
Unallocated liahilities® Kobicadr 36,840
Total liabilities BaE 267,556

*

Unallocated assets mainly include certain other receivables, financial assets designated
at fair value through profit or loss, and cash and cash equivalents. Unallocated liabilities

mainly include certain other payables and accruals and tax payable.

==
=

* APBEETEREE TEMBKR - BER

AFEHABRRZEREERAS MRS EE
o RO AED R EBIEE TEMENTIE
AR FERT B B R ENBIA -

HEXEEFRAR | —T—+tFE®RSE 103



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& A W B W R Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2017 2 =T —+tF=fA=+—HItFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
The revenue from external customers of the Group by geographical
segments is as follows:

5. WEksEER
@D BEI D REBYINBREAE
ZUERIE ¢

2017 2016
—E—+F | T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx THET
(restated)
(&%)

Continuing operations BFESEER

Revenue: W

Hong Kong BE - -
PRC s 28,561 316,706
28,561 316,706

Four (2016: One) external customers contribute more than 10%
revenue of the Group. Revenues of approximately HK$25,222,000
are derived from these customers for the year ended 31 March
2017. These revenues are attributable to hardware segment and
service segment. For the year ended 31 March 2016, revenues of
approximately HK$252,391,000 are derived from one customer. These
revenues were attributable to hardware segment.

As at 31 March 2017, accounts receivable from these external
customer accounted for 60% of the Group's total accounts receivable.
As at 31 March 2016, accounts receivable from this external customer
accounted for 81% of the Group’s total accounts receivable.

An analysis of the non-current assets of the Group by geographical
segments is as follows:

ME(ZE—RNF : —R)INBEFER
REBE10%A LK - BE=ZZT—+F
—A=1T—HBIEFE ' 425,222,000
TTZWEREZERF  ZFWEKRE
BHERESE -#B#E-_ZT— X F=A
=+—HBIFE R —BEP2ZKE
£%9252,391,000%8 7 » iz F Wk Tk B
WD ES -

R-ZE—+F=ZA=+—H kBA%Z
HNEBER P 2 FE W BR B4 A & B B R BR K
HBEOO0% - RZTE—R"F=-A=+—
B REZIIBEF ZEBBEERFIGARE
B FE AR SRAREES T % ©

RitR OB AER ZIEREE E L
T

2017 2016
—E—+tHE | —T—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET

Non-current assets: FERBEE :
Hong Kong BB 851 1,023
PRC 8] 1,926 6,257
2,777 7,280
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 B2 =T —+F=A=+—HILFE

6. OTHER INCOME 6. HiWA
2017 2016
“B—tF | ZTRF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
(restated)
(&%)
Continuing operations BFEREER
Interest income on short-term bank deposits RHSRITE R Z F EUA 908 433
Interest income from financial assets at fair value REETEAFEFAEBREZ
through profit or loss SREE T EMA 1,117 1,844
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AT 746 —
Others Hi 420 190
3,791 2,467
7. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 7. BRFAEFAIEE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): METEHRAIEREIY BN (GtA) :
2017 2016
—E—+tF | _T—XF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
(restated)
(&=&75)
Continuing operations FEREER
Auditors’ remuneration A GIE A 681 417
Cost of inventories sold BHEFEKAK 13,705 265,679
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment WE - BENMEREZITE 1,034 920
Amortisation of intangible assets | EESH 1 2
Employee benefit expense (Note 12) EERMAZ (M5E12) 20,045 21,030
Net foreign exchange gain P 3 S (566) (1,361)
Impairment loss on other receivables H R IB R EEE 3,991 122
Operating lease charges in respect of rented premises HAMEzZKEHERS 3,264 3,662
Impairment of intangible asset BIZEERE 692 -
Provision of bad debts EAREAE 2,464 -
Allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventorigs FRE KRBT EBE 24,293 -
Impairment of goodwill EERE 3,552 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 &2 T —+F=A=+—HItFE

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the year as
the Group had incurred losses for taxation purpose (2016: Nil as the
Group had incurred losses for taxation purpose). The PRC enterprise
income tax has been provided for at the rate of 25% (2016: 25%) on
the estimated assessable profit for the year.

8. FiEHiBAX

HRAREBREHEABR  URAFE
WEREBMNSHARBEE(ZF—R
F B ARAEESRKSEHEER) - F
AE T BEEEABREEERRTE
MPEH25% (ZF—7R%F : 25% ) B -

2017 2016
—g—tF | —2AF
HK$'000 HK$000

TERT THET
PRC enterprise income tax PECEMESH
Current year KEE 251 3,482
Income tax expense RSB 251 3,482

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting loss at
the applicable tax rate is as follows:

RERAMEGHAI e EER
ERET

2017 2016
Bt F | T RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
(restated)
(&=E5)
Continuing operations BFEQEER
Loss before income tax BRETISEIRIEIE (66,287) (1,558)
Tax on loss before income tax, calculated BRFT1S AT JEETE fRIE REBTEH
at Hong Kong profits tax rate of 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) FRE165%( =T —/~F : 165%)5TE (10,937) (257)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses T—I?Dfﬁﬁﬁizmﬁ%é 586 232
Tax effect of non-taxable income HARMBA 2 B E (124) (16)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses RERTIEB B NG E 10,444 2,444
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary differences AEREHEZE I BBTE = (5)
Overprovision in prior years BEFEEERE (1.615) -
Effect of different tax rates of REAM R AR EE B AT
subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions RATNRRE Z & 1,897 1,084
Income tax expense FriSHiF > 251 3,482
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9. DIVIDENDS

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: Nil).

10. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 14 November 2016, the Group disposed of its entire 100% equity
interests in the Joy Epoch Limited together with its subsidiary (Norray
Professional Computer Limited) (70% equity interest held by Joy
Epoch Limited) for a cash consideration of HK$100. The net liabilities
of the Disposal Group at the date of disposal were as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
50 W B R Wk

For the year ended 31 March 2017 B2 =T —+F=A=+—HILFE

9. KB

EEeVEERRNBE_T—tF=

A=t—BLFEZRPRE(ZT—X

FE)

10. HEMHRBE QA

RZBE—RF+—ATHEHB - XEEH
& i A 2 Joy Epoch Limited:& [7] H fft
& ~ &) ( Norray Professional Computer
Limited ) ( H 70% A% # B Joy Epoch
Limited3$ 5 ) 28100% &1 © HENRE

R100BT - RHERH HEEEEE

kLU

14 November

2016
—E-RE
+—A+mA
HK$’000
FERT

Gain on disposal, represented by: PERE K :
Gross proceed from the Disposal & 2 S FIEMERE -
Net Liabilities of the disposal group at the date of disposal REERHLESE BEFE 919
Net liabilities attributable to non-controlling interests IR EREG B BT (173)
Gain on disposal HE Wz 746
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 2 =T —+tF=fA=+—HItFE

10. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Satisfied by cash HK$100

10. HEMB LT %)
BAIE 410058 7T 32 1+

Analysis of asset and liabilities over the disposed subsidiaries are as B HENBATIAERNEERBESD

follows: LR UNNE

HK$'000
FET

Current assets REBEE
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRSEEYD 266
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E MR EIE 776
Inventories =& -
1,042

Non-current assets FRBEE

Property, plant and equipment M BB KR 19
Goodwill eSS -
19

Current liabilities nEEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMERFIE (1,980)
(1,980)
Net liabilities disposed of BERHE (919)
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10. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Analysis of the result of discontinued operations is as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 B2 =T —+F=A=+—HILFE

10. HEMB LT @)
BERIMEEEE CEESITAT ¢

2017 2016
—E—+F | TR F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Revenue Wz 5,675 10,280
Expenses X (5.648) (11,245)
Profit/(Loss) before tax of discontinued operations BRIHEEER 2 FATaH,/ (B18) 21 (965)
Income tax expense FrieBimx - -
Profits/(loss)after tax of discontinued operations BRIMCEER 2 BikET,(E1E) 27 (965)
Profit/(loss)for the year from discontinued AT ATEEE &R S ST
operations attributable FNmEF,(EE)
— Owners of the parent S YNSIE =N 19 (700)
— Non-controlling interests — JEfEfRAE RS 8 (265)
27 (965)
Cash flows BER
Operating cash flows EEREM 225 (515)
Investment cash flows RERSMN = -
Financing cash flows BERE M = -
Total cash flows BINETR 225 (515)
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 2 =T —+tF=fA=+—HItFE

10. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect
of the disposal is as follows:

10. HEMB Q=W
YEEE RS RBLEBYRAFE
DT

HK$'000

FTET

Cash consideration received BUERESRE -
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of B HEReRBESEEYD (266)
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR IR mE F5E (266)

11. LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share for the year (from continuing operations) is
calculated by dividing the loss attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$39,625,000 (2016: loss of approximately
HK$3,553,000) by the weighted average number of 1,356,250,000
(2016: 1,356,250,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share for the years 2017 and 2016 equals to the basic
loss per share as the potential ordinary shares on exercise of warrants
were not included in the calculation of diluted loss per share because
they are anti-dilutive.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 B2 =T —+F=A=+—HILFE

11. LOSS PER SHARE (continued) 1. BREE®)
Details of calculation of loss per share: ERBEZFTEFBET
2017 2016
—E—tHF  —Z—RF
Loss attributable to owners of the Company (HK$'000) RAnER ANEREE(TET)
(From continuing operations) (BFEREEBES) (39,625) (3,553
Loss attributable to owners of the Company (HK$'000) RAEEE NELER(TFET)
(From continuing and discontinued operations) (HBEREEB ORI ERESL) (39,606) (4,253)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue FRD BT EIRMNEELSE(TRR)
during the year (in thousands) 1,356,250 1,356,250
HK cents HK cents
A4l Al
Basic loss per share BREXEER
from continuing operations HIFEREEBESE (2.92) (0.26)
from discontinued operations HRERHREEBESE - (0.05)
(2.92) (0.31)
Diluted loss per share BREEEE
from continuing operations HIFEREEBESE (2.92) (0.26)
from discontinued operations ORI EEEEBEE - (0.05)
(2.92) (0.31)

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 12. EEEABEX (BIEEEM

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) %)
2017 2016
—E—tF  —E—RF
(restated)
(&&=5))
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMETR 17,291 19,169
Pension costs — defined contribution schemes RIS — EREHFE 2 2,754 1,861
20,045 21,030
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 2 =T —+tF=fA=+—HItFE

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (continued)

12.1 Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments of each director, disclosed pursuant to the GEM

Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

(Cap.622) and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information

about Benefits of Directors) Regulation (Cap.622G), are set out below:

12. BERARX(BREESMH

€)@
121 ESE<

RIBRIFER EHARRA
5 - BB R AMEDIFEI83(1) R M BB ED
FO2CERRABEEEMNEERRIIE
2D BHBEZ BB ¢

B AH %622

Employer’s
Salaries, contribution
allowances to defined
and benefits  contribution
Fees in kind schemes Total
e 2R EEXREH
we BEMFE HREEMHR wEt
2017 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—tfF FTHET THET THET THET
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Yau Hoi Kin® VidiET=Viota - 2,151 15 2,166
Mr. Wang Xiaoqi TrEmLas - 716 - 716
Mr. Lam Chi Man® EC A = 106 4 110
Non-executive director FPTEE
Mr. Hsu Chia-Chun" REHREE" 38 - - 38
Independent Non-executive BN TESE
directors
Dr. Chow Ka Ming, Jimmy® S 109 - - 109
Dr. Wong Wing Lit? HERUE LY 116 - - 116
Mr. Ngan Yu Loong" B R 104 = - 104
Mr. Tse Yee Hin Tony SHFEE A 120 - - 120
Mr. Gao Ping" =" 26 - - 26
Mr. Lam Wing Keung Mok sa Y 26 - - 26
539 2,973 19 3,531
(a) Mr. Yau Hoi Kin was resigned on 26 January 2017. (@) HEREERZT—tF—A=Z+/NBEHE -
(b) Mr. Lam Chi Man was appointed on 12 January 2017. (b) MEXEER=ZT—+F—A+-HEZE -
(c) Mr. Chow Ka Ming, Jimmy was retired on 30 January 2017. (c) ARRBIR=2—+F—A=1THRE-
(d Mr. Wong Wing Lit was retired on 17 February 2017. (d BERUETR=T—tF-_ATtHRE-
(e) Mr. Ngan Yu Loong was resigned on 12 January 2017. (e) BEWELERN =T —+F—A+=HEHE -
(f) Mr. Gao Ping was appointed on 12 January 2017. (f) BEEER T —+F—A+_—BEZE-
(@ Mr. Lam Wing Keung was appointed on 12 January 2017. (g) MAREENR=ZT—+F—A+-HEZFE -
(h) Mr. Hsu Chia Chun was retired on 24 August 2016. (h) BREBEEN-ZT—"F/N\A=ZTHEHBERE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 B2 =T —+F=A=+—HILFE

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

12.1 Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

12. EERABAZ(BREEEMH
€)@
121 ES#ME (%)

Employer’s
Salaries, contribution
allowances to defined
and benefits contribution
Fees in kind schemes Total
e REEk EXREH
we ENm HEHEIHR B5t
2016 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-RE TR TR TET FHET
Executive directors BITEE
Mr. Yau Hoi Kin Yids3E i - 2,100 18 2,118
Mr. Kwong Wai Ho, Richard”  B{2 5 5 40 - 610 6 616
Dr. Huang Youmin® BERRELY - 325 331
Mr. Wang Xiaogi TEEEmLAE - 646 - 646
Non-executive director HHTEE
Mr. Hsu Chia-Chun REREE 104 - - 104
Independent Non-executive HIHPTEE
directors
Dr. Chow Ka Ming, Jimmy AsREL 130 - - 130
Dr. Wong Wing Lit mETIEL 130 - - 130
Mr. Ngan Yu Loong EAMABESL A 130 - - 130
Mr. Tse Yee Hin Tony TR 130 - - 130
624 3,681 30 4,335
(i) Retired on 3 August 2015. (i) RZZT—AFN\A=REF-

During the year, HK$555,000 were paid by the Group to four directors
of the Company as compensation for loss of office (2016: Nil). No
emoluments were paid by Group to any of directors of the Company
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group (2016: Nil). None of
the directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year (2016: Nil).

FR - BAEMEAANARE S 555,000
BT ERBEZEE(ZZ
) o  REBWERIMARRESEZ N
EEBFESMAIRMAREEEZ
2R MEAHMEZEE(ZE—RF:
/) TN WEAMEEMEXREN

ZWREAME(=F

Z5EA]

R

— =

5| —E—tEEE

==4
=

N

—RNEFE)

113



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B3 4 W 85 R W ik

For the year ended 31 March 2017 2 =T —+tF=fA=+—HItFE

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

12.2 Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group
for the year include two (2016: two) directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. The emoluments payable

to the remaining three (2016: three) individuals during the year are as

follows:

12. REEAHAZ(BEEEM
&)

122 ZAEREHEAL

FA - AEEREZEESHEALEER
H(ZE—RF  WMRB)ES  BHEHE
EREASTHRRE - FARMSTHER
=H(ZE—RF: =ZF)ATZ2EEm
T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind

Employer’s contributions to defined contribution schemes

e RMMEDN=
EEMERBEET B

2017 2016

—E—+tE | —T—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FET

3411 3,115

R 29 42
3,440 3,157

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

ENFATER :

Number of individuals

HK$
Nil — HK$1,000,000
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000

A
2017 2016
—F—tF | ZTF
BT
F21,000,000/8 7T 2 2
1,500,001/ 7L 22,000,000/ 7T 1 1

During the year, HK$1,388,000 were paid to the three of five
highest paid individuals as compensation for loss of office (2016:
Nil). No emoluments were paid to the five highest paid individual as

inducement to join the Group (2016: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 B2 =T —+F=A=+—HILFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. W% - BERRE

Leasehold Plant and Furniture Office
improvements machinery  and fixtures  equipments Total
HENELRE BERESE GARRE WARE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THBIT AT THT THIT AT
At1 April 2015 R-B-HEEMA-A
Cost Nl 3,833 1,029 1,307 518 6,687
Accumulated depreciation ZHE (1,243) (423) (1,153) (292) (3,111
Net book amount BRERE 2,590 606 154 226 3,576
Year ended 31 March 2016 BZE-2—XE
ZR=T-HLEE
Opening net book amount FURERE 2,590 606 154 226 3576
Exchange differences ERER (114) 0] (6) (4) (125)
Additions NE - 14 25 29 68
Depreciation nE (678) (101) (55) (91) (925)
Closing net hook amount FAREREEE 1,798 518 118 160 2,594
At31March 2016 and 1 April 2016 R=F—-X"E=A=1+-AK
—E-X¥0B—-H
Cost X AE 3,660 1,037 1,320 531 6,548
Accumulated depreciation ZHE (1,862) (519) (1,202) (371) (3.954)
Net book amount IRERE 1798 518 118 160 2,594
Year ended 31 March 2017 BE-_E—+t&
ZR=T-HLEE
Opening net book amount FURESFE 1,798 518 18 160 2,594
Exchange differences EHER (106) (2) (12) (4) (124)
Additions NE 438 29 434 68 969
Disposals of subsidiaries HERBAT - - (22) - (22)
Depreciation e (670) (169) (103) (92) (1,034)
Closing net hook amount FREMEE 1,460 316 415 132 2,383
At 31 March 2017 R-E—+tH&=F=1+—-H
Cost Nl 3,548 1,048 660 571 5,833
Accumulated depreciation ZHE (2,088) (672) (245) (445) (3,450)
Net book amount IREEE 1,460 376 415 132 2,383
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 2 =T —+tF=fA=+—HItFE

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

14. BEEE

Development  Trademark
costs costs Total
BB R AN BEER A st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET FBTT
At 1 April 2015 R-—ZE-HAFNA—H
Cost DN 1,164 - 1,164
Accumulated amortisation ERE £ - - -
Net book amount BREFE 1,164 - 1,164
Year ended 31 March 2016 BE=-Z—XE
ZA=t—HLEE
Opening net book amount FUREFE 1,164 - 1,164
Exchange difference EHERE (38) - (38)
Addition NE - 10 10
Amortisation A - (2) (2)
Closing net book amount FARERESE 1,126 8 1,134
At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 RZB-XRE=ZA=+—-HBEK
—E-RFEWNA—H
Cost KAE 1,126 10 1,136
Accumulated amortisation RETHEEGH - (2) (2)
Net book amount BREEE 1,126 8 1,134
Year ended 31 March 2017 BE-E—tfF
ZA=t—HLEE
Opening net book amount FURIFE 1,126 8 1,134
Exchange difference EHEE (29) - (29)
Addition NE - - -
Amortisation B - (1) (1)
Impairment BE (692) - (692)
Disposal HE (18) — (18)
Closing net book amount FRIREFE 387 7 394
At 31 March 2017 R-ZE—+tHF=HA=+—H
Cost B ANE 387 10 397
Accumulated amortisation g £ - (3) (3)
Net book amount BREEE 387 7 394
Note: Development costs mainly include online network systems and video software  Mis : BABKAEERIEN LR ZGFLZERE2H

development costs. No amortisation was provided as these intangible assets were not

available for use as at 31 March 2016 and 2017.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 B2 =T —+F=A=+—HILFE

15. GOODWILL 15. HE
The net carrying amount of goodwill can be analysed as follows: EEZEmEESTAT :
2017 2016
—E—tHF | ZFRF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Net carrying amount at 1 April WEA—B 2 BREFE 3,552 3,552
Impairment VERIE] (3,552)
Net carrying amount at 31 March R=ZBA=+—HZEREEE - 3,552
At end of year RER
Gross and net carrying amount EREAENRFE - 3,552

The carrying amount of goodwill, net of any impairment loss, is mainly
allocated to the cash generating unit of China Mobile Payment under
the hardware segment.

The recoverable amount for the cash generating unit was determined
based on value-in use calculations covering a detailed five-year budget
plan followed by an extrapolation of using a zero percent growth rate
and 8% pre-tax discount rate (2016: 8%). The assumption of pre-tax
discount rate of 8% represents an estimate of the rate the market
would apply having regard to the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Based on the impairment assessment, an
impairment loss of HK$3,552,000 on goodwill was recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 March 2017.

BEZREEMNREMBRERSE T2
ORGP B TP ENBRZHA

TELEN

REEEBEMHAIKRESENRERE
A FREFENEREEAEFR
WEHA0%IERERS% AR R (ZF
—"NF 8% )EEETF - HAIAIRES%
ZBRERREMSERLENMGBE B
ZREENBEEREENETRR -
RERETE BERBEZZ—+tF=
A=+t—HLEFEMGZAERkEME
TE] WA 2% T 3R P 2R (B 5 18.3,552,000 78
=
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 2 =T —+tF=fA=+—HItFE

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2017 are as

16. RHB AR Z2’RE
R-E—+E=A=+—0 BB

follows: NBFEBEWET -
Particulars of issued
Name of company Place of incorporation and paid up capital Effective percentage holding  Principal activities, place of operation
BRTRES
NEER AERER 3L 3t 86 RARE BRBRAEDL IEXBREXNY
2017 2016
“EtE | —2F
[restated]
(&%31)
Subsidiaries held directly:
BEBEZNEL A
China 020 Business Group Co. Limited The British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
["BVI']* US$1 each
China 020 Business Group Co. Limited LBRAEE \RERAEIETL 100% 100% REBRELKR
(EREZES) LER
Excellent Master Investments Limited Hong Kong* 1 ordinary share 100% 100%  Financing and provision for payrol| and
administrative services for group
companies in Hong Kong
Excellent Master Investments Limited i 1REER 100% 100% RREEZSERARER
PRt STER RATEURTS
China Integrated Telecommunications BI* 1 ordinary share of 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
Group Co. Limited US$1 each
China Integrated Telecommunications EERNAE IREREEIZTZ 100% 100% REBREER
Group Co. Limited LRk
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 B2 =T —+F=A=+—HILFE

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

16. REIB AR ZRE @)

Particulars of issued
Name of company Place of incorporation and paid up capital Effective percentage holding  Principal activities, place of operation
BRTRESM
NRER BaAE R RaztE ERERASL IEXBRERLY
2017 2016
“B-tf | ZTF
(restated)
(f=31)
YBDS Muttimedia Company Limited BVI* 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Online netwark systems development
US$1 each in Hong Kong
YBDS Multimedia Company Limite EBRUER IREREEETL 100% 0% REAFEELBRZS
LRk
Subsidliaries held indirectly:
FEREZ B AR -
Able Bloom Technology Limited Hong Kong™ T ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong Kong
FENRBRAT N IREER 100% 100% REBREER
Pacific Honour Development Limited Hong Kong™ 1 ordinary share 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
BIEERARAR G IRERR 100% 100% REBREAR
Guangzhou YBDS IT Co., Ltd. PRC** RMB40,000,000 100% 100% Provision of system integration services and
other value-added technical consultation
services and hardware-related business
in the PRC
BMERERRRERAR g ARE400000007 100% 100% RPEREAREQREREMER
R R REHEB £
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 2 =T —+tF=fA=+—HItFE

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

16. REB AR ZRE @)

Particulars of issued
Name of company Place of incorporation and paid up capital Effective percentage holding  Principal activities, place of operation
BRTRESM
NRER BaAE R RaztE ERERASL IEXBRERLY
2017 2016
gt | —F5F
(restated)
(f=31)

Beijing YBDS IT Co,, Ltd. PRC** R\B4,040,000 100% 100% Provision of system integration services and
other value-added technical consultation
services and hardware-related business
in the PRC

I REEAEERRARRA e ARH4,0400007 100% 100% RePEREZGRSREREEE
BRI RIS RE B

China Mobile Payment Technology Group ~~ BVI* 2 ordinary share of 100% 100% Investment holding in PRC

Company Limited US$1 each
hEX ARREE EERLES" IREBRAERIETL 100% 100% RPEREER
BRAT] LRk
Hua Strong Network Science and PRC USD8,000,000 90% 90%  Investment holding in PRC, trading of
Technology Limited Company residential gateway products and T
network consultation service

ERBRMBARAR el 8,000,000 90°% 0% RPERERR  BEETAEER
RERR AR BRRS

Beijing Huagin Warld Technology PRC RIMB50,000,000 45.9% 45.9% Trading of residential gateway products

Limited Company
EREGRARBERAT el ARH500000007T 455% 5y BEECTREER
S Limited liability company * ARAT

*x Wholly foreign owned enterprise

The above table includes subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 B2 =T —+F=A=+—HILFE

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 16. RHIBE R B 2RE =)

The following table lists out the information relating to Beijing TXRZIE A REZHRKMERERA
Huagin World Technology Limited Company (“Beijing Huaqin”), &) ([db3#Eg) |)(ANEE#ES S AIEE
the subsidiary of the Group of which the Group has material non- &gz ([FEIERERE ) 2B AR 2&
controlling interest (“NCI"). The summarised financial information %} o LARET5 2 B 8 B KIE E BT
presented below represents the amounts before any inter-company a2 A& 5 AT 2 & 58 °

elimination.

Beijing Huagqin

b HEE)

2017 2016

ZE—+F | T RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET TFETT

(Restated)

(&=751)

NCI percentage IR ERB D 54.1% 54.1%
Non-current assets IERBEE 1,636 1,859
Current assets MEEE 82,789 232,576
Current liabilities RBBIE (97,942) (197,146)
Net (liabilities)/assets (g BEFHE (13,517) 37,289
Carrying amount of NCI eI R AR E(E (6,623) 18,272
Revenue e 10,186 202,235
Loss for the year FAEE (50,406) (2,889)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FR2HEF AR (51,602) (4,919)

Net loss for the year attributable to NCI FEIE N T PR (R A

gpbe s (24,699) (1,416)

Dividend paid to non controlling interest AT T IR R 2 IRE - -
Net cash used in operating activities BB B A 2 e FRE (19,969) (18,128)
Net cash from investing activities WEEBES 7RSS ERE 3,383 9,021
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17. INVENTORIES 17. F&
2017 2016
—B—tHF | ZTRF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Finished goods — residential gateway products 2w - EEREER 24,293 32,617
Allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventories fRE LA SRS (24,293) -
- 32,617

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18. ES K EMEWKIA

2017 2016

—E—+F | ZT—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FBTT

Bill receivables A ESE - 2,143

Trade receivables FEUE 5 k18 18,445 147,237

Total bill and trade receivables JEWNEIE K & 5 IR R 18,445 149,380
Prepayments, deposits and BENIE - Eek

other receivables HAth FE Y hIE 1,999 12,432

20,444 161,812

The credit period granted by the Group to its customers generally
ranged from 0 to 120 days (2016: 0 to 120 days). At the reporting date,
the ageing analysis of the Group's trade and bill receivables (net of
provision for impaired receivables) based on invoice date is as follows:

AEBRETFTEPZBREH KN T0E
120B(ZZF—7<F : 0£1208) - R#k%
HE - AEEERE S REBRFIE (R
FEUGRIB 2 B ERE) R A B 2R
DT

2017 2016

—E—+tF  —FT—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FHT

0-30 days 0-30H 364 114,183
31-60 days 31-60H 22 80
61-90 days 61-90H 215 258
91-180 days 91-180H 1,864 21,544
181-365 days 181-365H 460 9,059
Over 365 days FRiE365H 9,520 4,256
18,445 149,380
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 HE=2%

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
The ageing analysis of the Group's trade and bill receivables based on
due date is as follows:

B3 o 1 85 W R W ik
—tF=A=T—-RALEFE

18. ES R EHMEWFEIE &
AEBEKE G REEZBERIBAZ
BRERDATAOT -

2017 2016
—E—tHF | ZTRF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHT
Neither past due nor impaired R EATNE R E 364 104,985
1-30 days past due B EN1-30H 23 13,672
31-60 days past due B HA31-60H 215 80
61-90 days past due #HA61-90H 5,564 259
91-180 days past due BE9-180 2,299 17,070
181-365 days past due 11 H3181-365 8 460 9,058
Over 365 days past due wHARE365H 9,520 4,256
18,081 44,395
18,445 149,380

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to 7k %0 A 75 45 i {8 JE Uk TR IE 34 Ko 3 EA S 4

customers for whom there were no recent history of default.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to customers
that have a good track record of credit with the Group.

As at 31 March 2017, HK$2,464,000 of provision for impairment
was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income (2016: nil). The impairment was firstly
assessed individually for individual significant or long outstanding
balances, and the remaining balances were grouped for collective
assessment according to their ageing and historical default rates as
these customers were of similar credit risk characteristics.

All amounts are short term and hence the carrying values of the
Group’'s bill, trade and other receivables are considered to be a
reasonable approximation of fair values. The other receivables were
neither past due nor impaired. The Group did not hold any collateral
as security or other credit enhancements over the trade and other
receivables.

EBEXEBRRAT

REE LB - B EERKEE
WIS M EAREE RIFERRLERZ
P o

Fg

—tF=H=+—8 BE&KSE
%%jn)izﬁlmiﬁuﬁz)\%ﬁﬁwﬂzﬁ%’g‘éﬁ
2,464,000 (=T —RF : &) o BAE
BARHENERRRAREEEHETT
BETE R TAERBBBRERR KA
FRREELZEETE  REAALE
FEEHENEARRTE -

FEEBRAREE At - AEBZEW
TTF B 5 REAMBIA 2 FREERSR S
RPEZEENE - Hi R HRIAL &
tﬁ;ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ ZIN e i
B 5 REA KA A TR R R E M
E PSR ARVEIE A -
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For the year ended 31 March 2017 2 =T —+tF=fA=+—HItFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

All bill receivables were denominated in Renminbi and are primarily
notes received from third parties and banks for the year ended 31
March 2017 and 2016 for settlement of trade receivable balances.
As at March 2017, bill receivables were all settled and the carrying
amount is nil. At 31 March 2016, all bill receivables have maturities of
9 months or less from 31 March 2016.

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

18. ESZ R HMEWFIE )
BE_Z—tHFRKR_FT—~F=H
=+—HLEFE  FTERKREEHUA
RENE  YEBALEMERESHRE
EHIBWRE=ZARBITZEE - R
E—+F=ZA=+—8 iERKEER
BEENMEEEAS - RZT— &
=A=1+—8B " fIERKEENHRA
BE-_E—AF=A=+t—HETBEN
A -

19. EERQAFEFABREZE
BMEE

2017 2016

—E—tF  —ET—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTERT FET

Wealth management products BHE M 40,590 46,882

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had short term investments
linked wealth management products that were denominated in
RMB36,000,000 (equivalent to HK$40,590,000) (2016: RMB39,000,000
(equivalent to HK$46,882,000)) with a bank.

Interest rates of the wealth management products vary depending
on the return rate of the relevant short term bonds, money market
investment fund and bank deposits.

Wealth management products are carried at fair value and their
dealing price is derived from net asset values of the investment funds
with reference to observable quoted price of underlying investment
portfolio in active markets and inputs other than quoted market price
for respective wealth management products (note 29.3).
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For the year ended

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

B3 o 1 85 W R W ik

31 March 2017 BE—Z—+F=A=+—HUIFE

20. RERRTEEY

2017 2016
—F—tF | D%
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAT

Cash at banks and in hand RITEGERE

124,897 149,754

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$87,660,000 (2016: HK$91,073,000) which were
denominated in Renminbi. The remittance of these funds out of the
PRC is subject to the exchange control restrictions imposed by the
PRC government.

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

R-ZTE—+tHE=ZA=+—H K&
EUARBAEBEZROEGELES
#) /87,660,000 L (ZF — /N F -
91,073,000%7T) © 14 ERIE S E L E
BRXHPBETERZ INEE RS -

21. ESZREMBENRKIA

2017 2016
—E—tF  —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET

Current liabilities REAE
Trade payables N8 58 100,407 227,006
Other payables and accruals HERRIB R ERTE A 26,868 35,670
Sales deposits received EUSHER S 4m8 3,710
131,693 266,386

At 31 March 2017 and 2016, all trade and other payables are short
term and hence the carrying values of the Group's trade and other
payables are considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value.

R_ZE—+tF=A=+—HB FIBEH
MEMENFIBERER MAEEES
Ko B At FEAS FRIR 2 BR E (B AR A B
B o
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21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 21. EFREMENRIE S
The ageing analysis of the Group's trade payables based on invoice AEBEEMNE FHRIBILEEHH 7 REE
date is as follows: ST
2017 2016
—E—+HF | ZTRF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
0-30 days 0-30H - 38,990
31-60 days 31-60H - 203
61-90 days 61-90H - 16,444
91-180 days 91-180H 9,537 32,408
181-365 days 181-365H 19,541 85,516
Over 365 days Bi@365H 71,329 53,445
100,407 227,006

22 . SHARE CAPITAL 22. |RA

Authorised Ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each
SREEIBTZ
EEEBR
Number of shares
(in thousands) HK$'000
ROHE (TR) FTERT

As at 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017 RZE—7
—= 2,000,000 200,000
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22. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 22, HQZK(F‘EI’:)
Issued and fully paid Ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each
EREEIE T Z
ERTRARTSER
Number of shares
(in thousands) HK$'000
BREEE (FR) FTERT
As at 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017 RZE—RF=ZA=+—HBK
—E—+F=A=1+—H 1,356,250 135,625
30,000,000 warrants issued on 4 June 2012 and 60,000,000 warrants R =ZF— =4 ;3 A0 H#77,230,000,000
issued on 26 July 2012 have initial subscription prices of HK$0.185 MRREZILER _TE——FELA=- 1+

per share and HK$0.141 per share respectively for one ordinary share
of the Company exercisable for a period of five years. As at 31 March
2017, 90,000,000 (2016: 90,000,000) warrants remained unexercised.

23. SHARE OPTIONS

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at an annual general meeting
of the Company held on 1 August 2011 (“Adoption Date”), the
Company adopted the new share option scheme (“New Scheme”)
on the Adoption Date. The major terms of the New Scheme are
summarised as follows:

(a)  The purpose of the New Scheme is to enable the Group to grant
options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group.

(b)  The participants included any employee or consultant, advisor,
agent, contractor, client or supplier of the Company or any
subsidiary who in the sole opinion of the board of directors
have contributed or are expected to contribute to the Group
(“Participant”).

(c)  The maximum number of shares to be issued upon the exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the New Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group must not in aggregated exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.

H 217 2 60,000,00017 =2 P& #E 78 Bh A A
Al—REBRRD 2T REED R A
i A& A% 19 0.185/8 7T X I I 17 0.141 7%
T RERBREEFEZITEBHARAF - B
*%—tEZﬂZwL—El 90,000,000
B (ZZF— 7<% : 90,000,00017 ) 2R 1
FNARITE ©

23. BRE
BEANTR-_ZE—EFENA—B(K
MEH D ETIREAFAS LEBY
LERBR - AR EIE R B ET A
FEER S B ([FEt8]) - FstElz
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4\
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23. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(h)

(i)

The initial total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the New Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group) to be granted
under the scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issued
at the day on which the New Scheme is approved and such limit
might be refreshed by shareholders in general meeting.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the New
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group to
each Participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of
the issued share capital of the Company for the time being (the
“Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options in excess of
the Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of such further grant shall be subject to the issue of a
circular to the shareholders and the shareholders’ approval in
general meeting of the Company with such Participant and his
associates abstaining from voting.

Unless the directors otherwise determined and stated in the
offer of the grant of options to a grantee, a grantee is not
required to achieve any performance targets before any options
granted under the New Scheme can be exercised.

An offer of the grant of the option may be accepted by a
Participant within 28 days from the date of the offer of grant
of the option. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on
acceptance of the grant of an option.

The subscription price for shares under the New Scheme will be
a price determined by the directors, but shall not be less than the
higher of:

° the closing price of shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer
of grant, which must be a business day;

o the average closing price of shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and

° the nominal value of the shares.

The New Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years
commencing on the date on which the New Scheme is adopted.

No share options were granted by the Company or outstanding at any
time during the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: Nil).
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24. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 24. &2 BB ikR 3R

COMPANY
2017 2016
—E—+HF | ZTRF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M -~ BB RS 100 128
Investments in subsidiaries RIEB AR 2 & 79,579 76,998
79,679 77,126
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BARIE - e kEARYGRIE 685 124
Cash and cash equivalents RENBEEEY 28,132 35,124
28,817 35,248
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables and accruals Ht e IR ERTE A 213 344
Net current assets RBEEFE 28,604 34,904
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAR 108,283 112,030
Net assets EEZFE 108,283 112,030
Equity R
Equity attributable to the owners of FRABREEARLESR
the Company
Share capital AR 135,625 135,625
Reserves (Note) f s (BT (27,342) (23,595)
Total equity FEREEE 108,283 112,030

Lam Chi Man
MEX
Director

EF

Wang Xiaoqi
IT®®
Director

EF
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24. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY(Contmued)

Note:

The movement of the Company's reserves are as follows:

24, D FBIEMRREK @)

fiE
AR REEBHNT :

Share premium

Warrant reserve Accumulated losses Total reserves

B4R E RREERE REtEE BERE
HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FTET FET FET
As at 1 April 2015 R-ZE—RAFWMA—A 101,852 900 (121,994) (19,242)
Comprehensive expense 2HEMAX
Loss for the year FRERE = = (4,353) (4.353)
Total comprehensive expense for the year /A2 [ 5 Sz 4258 - - (4,353) (4,353)
As at 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 R-ZE—R"E=ZA=+—A8k
—T—R"EMA—A 101,852 900 (126,347) (23,595)
Comprehensive expense e
Loss for the year FREE = = (3.747) (3.747)
Total comprehensive expense for the year A2 [ FI Sz 4458 - - (3,747) (3,747)
As at 31 March 2017 R-ZB—tF=A=+—-8H 101,852 900 (130,094) (27,342)
25. RESERVES 25. R
(a) Share premium (a) MRHBRE

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds from
issuance of the Company's shares over its par value.

(b) Warrant reserve
Warrant reserve represents the unexercised equity element of
warrants issued by the Company.

(c) Translation reserve

The translation reserve of the Group comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2.4.

(d) Distributable reserve

As at 31 March 2017, in the opinion of the directors, the Company's
reserve available for distribution to owners amounted to approximately
HK$101,852,000 (2016: HK$101,852,000).

26. DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income tax liabilities:

No deferred income tax liabilities have been recognised in the
consolidated financial statements as the Group did not have material
temporary difference arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts as at 31 March 2017 and 20186.
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26. DEFERRED INCOME TAX(continued)

Deferred income tax assets:

No deferred income tax assets have not been recognised in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of tax losses available
to offset future profits due to the uncertainty of future profit streams
against which the asset can be utilised. At the reporting dates, the

REEFTB R )
ELFE SHEE :
AR BETEE P B) A B 2 2 R 2R M 2R
R A BN ER A M SRR A A
R 55 2R S0 1) 2 i TR 85 18 M e SRR AT

FRAISMEBE -

—tF=A=T—-RALEFE

RBERH  AEE 2K

unrecognised tax losses of the Group are as follows: ERABIBERE T -
2017 2016
—®—tF  —FTAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHT
Tax losses THIEE1E 33,740 59,401
27. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS . REFHERE
As lessee 1’E3§§;7¥‘<$HA

At the reporting dates, the total future minimum lease payments
payable by the Group under non-cancellable operating leases in
respect of rented premises and equipment are as follows:

RBERH  AEBEREEBEAME
BB TARHERHEEZ BREN
ZHEHESEENT

2017 2016

—E—+tHF | —T—RHF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FHET

Within one year —FR 184 1,778
In the second to fifth year inclusive —FEEERFAN(PEEEMSE) = 989
184 2,767

The Group leases a number of premises and equipment under
operating leases. The leases run for an initial period of one to five
years, with an option to renew the leases and renegotiate the terms at
the expiry date.

AEERBEEXZHEHAABEDE LR

s o

BONFRB—ZRF - NEmB

HirEEEEAOREHEAES -

EREXEER

BRA

F
= —
=

+EFES

R

==4
=
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28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016, the Group has not
entered into significant transactions with related parties.

No transactions have been entered with the directors of the Company
(being the key management personnel) during the year other than
the emoluments paid to them (being the key management personnel
compensation) as disclosed in note 12.1.

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market
risk (including foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial
performance.

29.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position relate to the following categories of financial assets
and financial liabilities:

28. BEELRS

BHE_ 22—+t _F—XF=HA
Zt+—BUIFE  ANEEREEEES
FINEARRS °

I E 121 RBEARRRREES
e (AEREEBAEME) I B
FAPMBERRREET(AITEEEEA
B)ETRS

MERREERAFETE
AEEXFABEESETHRER T
i%J_LA( BIERIMERKR - T = E &{E#l

) T:Tff % KO EN R R o AN E
Z% ERRERASIDNERNEMT S
ZT—JTE A=K EH A EBMER
B2 BETNZE -

29.1 SREERABBZER
RiFE M BARRES Z REER T

\:ﬂ'l:l

TREEMERAERNER

2017 2016
—B—tHF | —ZTRF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Financial assets SRMEE
Loans and receivables B REN
— Trade and other receivables —E 5 NEMEWEIE 20,194 159,173
— Cash and bank balances — 4 RIRITER 124,897 149,754
145,091 308,927
Financial assets designated BERAFEFABRZ S
at fair value through profit or loss TREE
Wealth management products BOEMR 40,590 46,882
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

29.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

B3 o 1 85 W R W ik
—tF=A=T—-RALEFE

29. MBEBRERERAFETE

(#&)

291 SREERBEZEA(8)

2017 2016
—E—tF | ZT—XF
HKS$ HKS
BT BT
Financial liabilities cRAs
Financial liabilities measured BB AT EZ
at amortised cost ZHEE
— Trade and other payables —EZ 5 MEMENFUE 127,269 262,676
29.2 Financial risk factors 29.2 R EE
Exposure to market risk (including foreign exchange, interest rate and —fREFBIEF S ELE T SRR (BIEIN
price risks), credit risk and liquidity risk arises in the normal course E MERERRR)  FEERR KRS
of business. The risks are minimised by the financial management SRk o T EERBR RERA
policies and practices described below: Hwﬂﬁm@éﬁﬁ%ﬁ_ﬁ :
29.2.1 Market Risk 29.2.1 HEERE
(i) Foreign exchange risk () SMNER R
Foreign exchange risk mainly arises from future commercial SMERE F BR B REINEBH AR

transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in
foreign operations.

The management of the Group considers the foreign exchange risk of
the Group is not significant, and thus does not have any active policies
to hedge against the foreign exchange risk.

(i) Price risk
The Group is not exposed to significant price risk.

(i) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The Group has significant exposure to interest rate risk
as the Group currently has certain financial assets designated at fair
value through profit or loss exposed to floating interest rates.

XRP  EHIABERBENFRE -

AEBEEERS  AKEZIMNERR
AR B I A R A AR R DA SR S
PEE 22 o

(i) (S

AREEAS 2 EBRRARTAK

(i) FE 2 f

FHEERITAQATFEXRSRERR 2
A 2 [ ez R T 35 M| R By T A FTKCED ©

AR AEBBRIHAES TR ZEF R
BHETARATEFABRH ZSHME
B WAEEASTEAFERER -
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

29.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

29.2.1 Market Risk (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group's interest rate risk exposure is summarised as follows:

29. IR BREERAFETE
()

29.2 BiEEMBEZEE)

29.2.1 R (E)

(i)  FIEEf (8)

AEBMFRRERBMRIT

2017 2016
—E—+tF | ZT—XF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
(restated)
(&=:51)
Financial assets designated at fair value BERRATFEFABREZ
through profit or loss TREE
Wealth management products BB E M 40,590 46,882

At 31 March 2017, if market interest rates at that date had been
25 basis points (2016: 25 basis points) higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, profit after tax for the year would increase/
decrease by HK$76,000 (2016: increase/decrease by HK$68,000)
and other comprehensive income would decrease/increase by HK$nil
(2016: decrease/increase by HK$nil).

In the opinion of the management the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the interest rate risk as the year end exposure
does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

29.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

29.2.2 Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to bill, trade and other

receivables, financial assets designated at fair value through profit or

loss and bank balances.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

In order to minimise credit risk, management has delegated a team to
be responsible for the determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, management reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual bill, trade and other receivables
regularly to ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised
for irrecoverable amounts.

As at 31 March 2017, there is no bill receivables. As at 31 March 2016,
the Group's bill receivables with carrying amount of HK$2,143,000 are
unconditional orders in writing issued by or negotiated from banks or
customers of the Group which entitle the Group to collect a sum of
money from banks or other parties.

The credit risk on liguid funds is limited because the Group's time
deposits and bank balances are deposited with banks of high credit
ratings in Hong Kong and the PRC.

EBEXEBRRAT

B3 o 1 85 W R W ik
—tF=A=T—-RALEFE

29. iKEBEERANFEEFE
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29.2 BIEEkEEE)

29.2.2 ERE

$%@Zﬁ%ﬂﬁzgmﬁE%%ﬁ

B MEMBERGIE  RAFEF AR

mZ@ﬂﬁE&ﬁﬂm%EE

HRETTREBTEEME ﬁﬁ‘ilﬁﬁ
BEREMEASEARNRREERR
Ty iz B BB RO 3R At E’Jﬂiﬁﬂ“ﬁﬁ?ﬁ
MM B ERREE

EREEERR  EEECSRME—
EZI%E %E?E?F“ETDE\EE%E EE#Z
REMEREF  BREDNRETHL
WEEBET - o ERESTEHE
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

29.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

29.2.3 Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash

and marketable securities. The Group regularly reviews its major

funding positions to ensure that it has adequate financial resources in

meeting its financial obligations.

The following tables detail the Group’s contractual maturity for its
financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include
both interest and principal cash flows.

#WH@AE&A$EﬁE
29.2 Hﬂ%ﬂ[ﬁfil%(@
29.2.3 mEELEME
BEZTHESRRER  BER&FT

RZBRENEERS -  AEETEHEMH
HIBESWR BRBBEREHBE
RAREBITEMBEEZHRR °

TREIAEEZCRBESOFH -

ZRIDBBEAEBERAFHEREESH
BENRFAHMN B ERATER
ERERY ZEXBENELRARES

3Zx
1L

o

Hfﬂllﬂ

Total Carrying

Less than 6 months to undiscounted  amount at

3 months  3-6 months 1year 1-2years  cash flow 31 March

R=A

~EA KFE =+—H2

PR=@A =Zx@EA E-F —ZE=F BRLeREH IREE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THET THET FHET THET FHET THET
2017 —E—tE
Non-derivative ELTE SR

financial liabilities =L

Trade and other E5RHEAM

payables ERFRIE 1,316 9,537 19,540 96,876 127,269 127,269
2016 —EREF
Non-derivative EOTE SR

financial liabilities BE

Trade and other payables & 5 K E 1t

ARG 75,487 32,407 154,782 - 262,676 262,676

As at 31 March 2017, the Group did not have any derivative financial R-ZE—tF=A=+—H  XEEL
liabilities (2016: Nil). BEATESREE(ZT—RF  8) -
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

29.3 Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

The following table presents financial assets and liabilities measured
at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with the fair value hierarchy. The hierarchy groups financial
assets and liabilities into three levels based on the relative reliability
of significant inputs used in measuring the fair value of these financial
assets and liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets and liabilities;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial asset
or liability is categorised in its entirety is based on the lowest level of
input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

29. iIEREERAFETE
(#&)

29.3 RATVEMBZEMEERAE
TREJRBRFERE - AR FER
ANGAEMBARKRZEREERAE °
HRBREFEHECHEERAELZ
NFEFRERZE2HABE ZBY A
St HeREERBEISR=E -
RFERBEDBATEE :

FE: HREERABEREERMSZ
HECRERE)

F2fE . BMEEXBEMER(BER)
kR (B EAR R ) B
ZEABER(TNBREE1EME
BZWE) R

FIE : WIHREABEZMBEEM
BhZzEELREH ARE
(BEBEBA) °
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

29.3 Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
(Continued)

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the

consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into the fair

value hierarchy as follows:

29. MBEABEERQAFEFE
()

203 BAVEHBEZCHAERAME
()

REEHBERRRANRATEHEZS

MEERBEDED RATZDFER

#

Level 2
H2fE
2017 2016
—EB—+tF | —T—RF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Assets BE
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit BEEATET ARG EREE !
or loss:
Wealth management products BHER 40,590 46,882

Some of the wealth management products are not publicly traded,
the fair values presented are determined by calculating the present
value of the estimated cash flows upon maturity of these financial
assets. Future cash flows are estimated based on the contracted
interest rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of the
Group or the counterparties, as appropriate. Interest rates of these
wealth management products vary depending on the return rate of the
relevant short term bonds, money market investment fund and bank
deposits.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

29.3 Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
(Continued)

Some of the wealth management products are derived from net asset

values of the investment funds with reference to observable quoted

price of underlying investment portfolio in active markets.

There were no transfers among Levels 1, 2, and 3 during the year
ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

29.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at other
than fair value

The carrying amounts of the financial instruments carried at amortised

cost are not materially different from their fair values as at 31 March

2017 and 2016.

30. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for equity holders and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to equity holders, return capital to
equity holders, issue new shares or reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio
is calculated as a percentage of bank borrowings and long-term debts
over total equity. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’, as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

As at 31 March 2016 and 2017, the Group's gearing ratio was not
presented as the Group has no bank borrowing and long-term debts.
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31. LITIGATION
As of 31 March 2017, a subsidiary of the Company, Beijing Huaqgin
HEREZH R B BR A7)

("Beijing Huagin”) was involved in the following material litigation: a

World Technology Limited Company*

supplier of Beijing Huaqin filed a litigation with Shanghai Municipal
Intermediate People’'s Court No.
compensation on default in payment.

1 against Beijing Huaqin for

The Company'’s solicitor in respect of the People’s Republic of China is
of the view that, as the case had not yet been proceeded to the stage
of substantive hearing, so far Beijing Huagin was unable to gain full
access to the related evidences submitted by the plaintiff concerning
the dispute on the transaction, including the quantity of goods being
supplied and settlement status. Therefore, the judgement and the
costs involved in the litigation remained uncertain.

*  for identification purposes only
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